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Abstract

This report details archaeological investigations at Locality 6 of Fort Ellsworth
(14EW26), a temporary military post established in 1864 and abandoned in 1867. The site is
located along the Smoky Hill River within the present boundary of Kanopolis Lake in central
Kansas. Locality 6 was tested in 1995, and as a result, the Fort Ellsworth site was determined
eligible for the National Register of Historic Places in 1996. Data recovery investigations at
Locality 6 in 1996 focused on the excavation of two dugout structures, both of which were found
to contain evidence of walls constructed by setting logs vertically in a trench, a method known as
poteaux en terre construction. One dugout contained the remains of a bakeoven, clearly
indicating it was the post bakery. Archaeological data from the other dugout suggests that it
served as a living quarters, probably for enlisted men or non-commissioned officers.

Archaeological data, in combination with historical documentation, have provided fresh
new insights into everyday life at this obscure post. Shelter and other fort buildings were built
by soldiers, primarily of materials readily obtained from the local environment--logs, brush, sod,
and earth. In contrast to this poorly-developed built environment, the Army supplied Fort
Ellsworth troops with up-to-date arms and other articles for military duty and daily existence.
Soldiers also had access to a variety of foodstuffs that went well beyond the standard Army
ration of the day issued by the commissary department. They enjoyed a diverse assortment of
beef and pork (as well as chicken) dishes, and they certainly were not restricted to a consistent
diet of low quality cuts of meat.

In the past, unauthorized artifact collecting and earthmoving activities have adversely
affected portions of the site. Looters are still a threat, although signs have been posted and
efforts have been increased to monitor the site. Riverbank erosion also poses a legitimate threat
to some of the dugouts. For these reasons and the fact that much still can be learned, further
archaeological data recovery is recommended. We still need to know more about the
establishment of the fort, the subsequent growth and composition of the fort over time, the
materials and means of construction of fort buildings, the supply of the fort, and the diet and
everyday life of its residents.
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Trunk furniture - lockplate; strap?
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hat eagle? insignia; unidentified brass object; unidentified
brass object; lockset catch?; coin purse frame.
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Unidentified hardware object. '

Fort Ellsworth artifacts - canteen stopper; knapsack strap-
adjustment hook; beveled iron rod; belt catch (brass) for
U.S. military belt; .58 caliber Springfield appendage.

Fort Ellsworth artifacts - pen and/or pencil parts; coin
purse frame; homemade ring; buckle PATENT 1855; buckle;
shoulder scale wing stud, brass; thimble, non-ferrous;
Novelty Rubber Co. button; regimental insignia.

. Cartridge cases.
. Lead shot bar fragments, St. Louis Shot Tower Co.

. Fort Ellsworth artifacts - laminated lead object; folded
and stamped band, ferrous; ornamental band; iron strap;
laminated lead object; non-metallic object; concha.
Cone tinklers.

Spoon and knife, table.

Forks, table.

Cup and pot handles.

Fort Ellsworth artifacts - friction lids; can ends;
mucket; strainer.

Folding knives.

Hunting knife.

Chaigneau Sons sardine tin.

Complete bottles.

Butt hinges.

Model 1858 canteen.

. Buttons; general service, milk glass, shell.

. Ammunition components; percussion caps, bullets.

. Bullets; .36 to .44 caliber.

. Bullets; .44 to .58 caliber.

. Buttons; metal, glass, rubber.
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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION
by
Robert J. Ziegler

Lieutenant Frank Baldwin of the 37th U.S. Infantry married Alice Blackwood in
Northville, Michigan on January 10, 1867. The following week, the Baldwins visited family and
friends in Michigan and then embarked on a long journey to Frank's assigned duty station in
central Kansas. The couple traveled by rail to Chicago, then to St. Louis, and finally to Junction
City, Kansas, the terminus of the Kansas Pacific Railroad. From there, the couple traveled by
ambulance to Fort Riley, then to Salina, and ultimately to their final destination, Fort Harker
(Carriker 1975:24-27; Steinbach 1989:26-27). At that time, the fort was under construction and
the bride was astonished when she discovered that the couple's quarters at Fort Harker were not
yet completed and that they would have to stay nearby in quarters at the "lower cantonment”
located along the Smoky Hill River (Baldwin 1928:126; Steinbach 1989:27). In her memoirs,
Alice Blackwood Baldwin describes her initial approach to the site:

I could see no buildings, nor any sign of a fort until it was pointed out to me, but
still could see nothing but a spot elevated slightly above the rest of the landscape.
A nearer approach disclosed a short stub of stovepipe, although no smoke issued
from its top. Presently I saw other discolorations in the landscape which proved
to be the barracks and officers' quarters. The so-called barracks were mostly dug-
outs, but God be praised! there floating in the storm was Old Glory (Baldwin
1928:121-122).

The lower cantonment described by Mrs. Baldwin was actually old Fort Ellsworth,
established in June 1864 to secure routes of transportation and protect local settlements from
Indian attacks. Company H of the 7th Iowa Cavalry, under the command of Second Lieutenant
Allen Ellsworth, constructed the fort near the junction of two trails, the Smoky Hill/Denver
Express Road, and the Fort Riley/Fort Larned Road (also known later as the Fort Zarah Road)
(Mattes 1947:12; Lees and Schockley 1986:127). Intended to be only temporary, the fort
consisted of a loosely organized collection of dugout and log facilities and quarters constructed
mainly from materials at hand. In November 1866, Fort Ellsworth was renamed Fort Harker, and
by the spring of 1867 the old fort along the river was abandoned for the newly-built post situated
on higher ground approximately one mile to the northeast in what today is the town of
Kanopolis. In June 1867, just three years after Fort Ellsworth's establishment, its buildings were
ordered razed to the ground (Choitz 1967:7). Its successor, Fort Harker, protected the trails and
local settlements, as well as construction crews of the Kansas Pacific Railway as it advanced
west. During the Indian wars of 1868-1869 it served as the base of expeditions against the
Cheyenne, Commanche, and the Arapaho. Fort Harker became the main distributing point for all
of the military posts further west, but after Indian troubles subsided and the railroad was
completed to Denver, the decision was made to abandon it. The last regular troops occupied the
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fort until October 1872 although it was temporarily reoccupied during the winter of 1872-1873
(Lees and Schockley 1986:21-23).

Fort Ellsworth, over the course of its short existence, was garrisoned by anywhere from
1-7 companies (average=2.9) of cavalry and infantry (National Archives 1965). A succession of
state and Federal troops served there, including Company C of the 2nd U.S. Volunteers, one of
the units of "Galvanized Yankees,” or Confederate prisoners who earned their release from
prison by volunteering for Western duty (National Archives 1965; Brown 1986). Notable
individuals associated with Fort Ellsworth include Wild Bill Hickok and Buffalo Bill Cody. In
his autobiography, Buffalo Bill Cody (1991:145) recalled that Wild Bill Hickok was
headquartered at Fort Ellsworth while scouting for the Government in the winter of 1866-1867.
At that time, Buffalo Bill obtained employment at Fort Ellsworth and subsequently scouted
between it and Fort Fletcher (Cody 1991 :145).

Fort Ellsworth is little more than a footnote in most histories of Kansas, the American
West, or the Plains Indian wars. It existed for only three years and no battles were fought from
its confines, or for that matter, anywhere near the fort. To date, no history of the fort has been
written, consequently neither historians nor the general public know very little about it and the
daily life of its inhabitants. Historical documentation on this obscure post is available though.
There exists a handful of first-hand accounts written by individuals stationed at the fort or
passing through the area. There also exists a sizable number of official military letters, orders,
and documents, enabling one to begin to piece together the fort's history. However, this
historical record is incomplete, and moreover, inconsistent concerning a number of facts. Nearly
all of the fort's records have been lost for the 1 1/2 year period beginning with the fort's founding
in June 1864, and ending in November 1865. Surviving maps present conflicting versions of one
of the most basic facts, the actual location of the fort. And despite an extensive search at the
National Archives and other libraries during the course of this study, no documents could be
found showing the fort's layout, and only one depiction of any fort building, the sutler's store,
could be found.

Today, an estimated 85% of the Fort Ellsworth site (14EW26) is located on Government-
owned land at Kanopolis Lake, a multipurpose project of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
Kansas City District (KCD) (Figure 1.1). The remainder of the site lies on adjacent private
lands. No fort structures have survived and the only physical evidence of the fort's existence that
one can observe today are subtle depressions indicating where buildings once stood, and a few
mid-19th century artifacts scattered about on the surface of the ground. However, the site is well
known locally and looting by artifact hunters threatens the integrity of the site. Several
collections in the possession of local residents reportedly have been excavated from Fort
Ellsworth. During inspections of the site by KCD archeologists and Kanopolis Lake rangers,
holes dug by metal-detector using artifact collectors were encountered on several occasions.
Fencing that includes a locked gate prevents direct vehicle access to the site, but artifact hunters
still find means of entry by foot or by vehicle via private land.
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Destruction of potentially significant archaeological remains prompted the KCD to
conduct test excavations at the site in the summer of 1995. The 1995 investigation, directed by
the author, determined the existence of undisturbed archeological features and artifact deposits
probably associated with the occupation of Fort Ellsworth (Ziegler 1996). Based on the 1995
archeological testing, the KCD and the Kansas State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO)
concluded that 14EW26 is eligible for listing to the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP)
because it is likely to yield archeological data important to the understanding of the material
aspects of everyday life at a small, temporary military fort on the Kansas frontier.

In 1996, the KCD and the Kansas SHPO determined that data recovery was the best
means to preserve important information before it is lost to artifact collectors. A Data Recovery
Plan (Ziegler 1996) was completed in February, and in the spring of that year a geophysical
investigation was conducted by Steven DeVore of the National Park Service (DeVore, Appendix
A), while comprehensive historical research was undertaken by historian Cynthia Baer of
American Resources Group, Ltd. (Baer, Chapter 2). Data recovery investigations at 14EW26
directed by the author in the summer of 1996, along with survey and test excavations at nearby
Fort Harker (14EW310) directed by Marsha King of the KSHS (King 1997), were undertaken as
components of the Kansas Archaeological Training Program, sponsored that year by the Kansas
State Historical Society (KSHS), the Kansas Anthropological Association (KAA), and the KCD.

Fort Ellsworth presented an excellent opportunity to study the past using a variety of
sources. Historical documents were critical to the understanding of the fort's past, but they
simply did not tell the whole story. Excavated archaeological remains provided details that did
not exist in the historical record, and archaeological and historical sources when used in
combination, provided a much fuller interpretation of the past that could be provided by either
type of source alone (c.f., Deetz 1988; Deagan 1991;Yentsch 1994).

This volume reports the 1995-1996 archaeological investigations at 14EW26. The
remainder of this chapter outlines the environmental setting, discusses research at the site before
1995, presents research questions to be addressed during this study, and describes the study
methods. Chapter 2 provides a detailed history of the fort. Chapter 3 discusses the results of the
archaeological investigations. Specialized analyses of recovered material remains follow in
Chapter 4 (non-organic artifact assemblage), Chapter 5 (faunal remains), and Chapter 6
(botanical remains). Chapter 7 evaluates the research questions. The last chapter summarizes
the study’s conclusions and makes recommendations for further work. Finally, separate
appendices detail the geophysical investigations, prehistoric artifacts, human remains, and
historic artifacts by major proveniences.

Environmental Setting

The site is located in Ellsworth County in central Kansas in the physiographic region
known as the Smoky Hills. This region consists of a broad belt of hills formed by the dissection
of Cretaceous rock units. The site is located in the easternmost range of the Smoky Hills,
commonly known as the Dakota Hills because that are capped by thick red sandstones of the
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Dakota Formation. Hills and buttes that abruptly rise above the surrounding plains characterize
the Dakota Hills (Wilson 1984:24). Rivers in the region-- the Republican, Solomon, Saline, and
Smoky Hill-- flow eastward across the Smoky Hills. Wide, flat floodplains and bench-like
alluvial terraces characterize the river valleys.

The site is located in the vicinity of the confluence of the Smoky Hill River and Spring
Creek, on the east bank of the Smoky Hill and on both sides of Spring Creek (Figure 1.2).
Presently, the area is timbered along the streams with unbroken prairie and cultivated fields
beyond the timber. The native vegetation of the site area would have been floodplain forest
surrounded by a mosaic of Bluestem prairie and Bluestem-grama prairie (Kuchler 1974).

The floodplain forest would have included tall, medium-tall, and low broadleaf deciduous
scattered trees and shrubs. Dominant species along the floodplain would have been hackberry,
cottonwood, black willow, and American elm (Kuchler 1974:600-601). Bluestem Prairie in the
site vicinity would have consisted of dense stands of tall and medium-tall grasses and forbs, with
big bluestem, little bluestem, switchgrass, and Indian grass as dominant species. Bluestem-
Grama Prairie would have consisted of two communities, dense stands of low-growing grasses,
or dense stands of medium-tall grasses and forbs. Big bluestem, little bluestem, sideoats grama,
and blue grama would have been the dominant species (Kuchler 1974:591-597).

Soils in the site vicinity are of the McCook, Tobin, or Jansen series (Barker and Dodge
1989). McCook loams and silt loams are present on the floodplains and terraces of the Smoky
Hill River while Tobin silt loams are found on the narrow floodplains of Spring Creek. Formed
in loamy sediments over alluvial sand and gravel, Jansen sandy loams are present in the uplands
bordering both the Smoky Hill River and Spring Creek.

Previous Archeological Research at Fort Ellsworth

Fort Ellsworth received limited attention during archeological investigations conducted
by the University of Kansas at Kanopolis Lake in 1948 (Smith 1949). Smith reported on a
number of prehistoric sites investigated during the project, and although he did not discuss Fort
Ellsworth in the 1949 report, a large surface collection and associated artifact catalog curated at
the University of Kansas indicates that he visited the site. Metal artifacts in the collection
include lead bullets, lead sprue, copper cartridge cases, percussion caps, military insignia,
military buttons, small buckles, bridle parts, harness parts, tin can fragments, door hinges, cut
nails, and miscellaneous unidentified iron fragments. The collection also includes a variety of
earthenware, stoneware, and bottle glass fragments. Records associated with this collection do
not indicate the boundaries of the site nor do they specify the location(s) where these materials
were found.

The late George Jelinek, a local amateur historian, excavated at the Fort Ellsworth site
prior to 1974. In a book on the local history of the area he provides a very brief account of
digging into the foundation remains of a building believed he believed to be the fort’s
commissary (Jelinek 1973). A small collection of artifacts resulting from this excavation resides
in the Ellsworth County Museum in Ellsworth. Unfortunately, according to the museum’s
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director there is no accompanying documentation with the artifact collection, nor are there any
records of Jelinek’s excavation work. Jelinek’s sister-in-law, Inez Fox, was contacted and she
was not aware that Jelinek kept any logs or diaries of his excavations (Charles L. Fulford 1993,
pers. comm.).

In 1976 Fort Ellsworth was revisited during a shoreline survey of Kanopolis Lake
conducted by the University of Kansas (Leaf 1976, 1977). Both prehistoric and historic artifacts
were recovered from the surface of cultivated fields and river terraces at three localities near the
confluence of Spring Creek and the Smoky Hill River (Leaf 1977:46). The three localities are
shown in Figure 1.2; Locality A is located west of Spring Creek, while Locality B lies east of
Spring Creek, and Locality C is located along the Smoky Hill River adjacent to a modern sand
pit. The 1976 collection consists of a lead bullet, an iron trouser button, a knife tip, a small
buckle, a horseshoe, a door hinge, a cut nail, window glass, bottle glass, earthenware, stoneware,
clinkers, and miscellaneous iron fragments. Leaf's (1976, 1977) reports do not indicate the
location (i.e., either Locality A, B, or C) where any given artifact was collected.

Additional survey work and limited testing were conducted in the Fort Ellsworth vicinity
by Environmental Systems Analysis, Inc. in 1984 during their historical and historical
archeological study of Kanopolis Lake (Lees and Schockley 1986). Two sites recorded during
the survey are associated with the military road that ran from Fort Riley to the confluence of
Walnut Creek and the Arkansas River. This road was known variously as the Santa Fe Road, the
Fort Riley Road, and the Fort Larned Road prior to the construction of Fort Zarah in 1864, when
it became known as the Fort Zarah Road. The remains of a government bridge and the Fort
Zarah Road (14EW105), were recorded (Figure 1.2). The bridge was built in 1854 or 1855 and
was destroyed either in 1858 or 1865 (Lees and Shockley 1986:150). Bridge pilings in the
Smoky Hill River bed, earthen approach ramps on both sides of the river, and a section of the
Fort Zarah Road on the east bank of the river are stil| preserved. The other recorded site
(14EW106) is the probable Smoky Hill Ford and Fort Zarah Road located some 200 m
downstream from 14EW105 (Figure 1.2). After the government bridge was destroyed, the
Smoky Hill Ford served as the crossing for the Fort Zarah Road (Mattes 1947:2). Physical
evidence of the ford no longer exists, but investigators hypothesized that a 300 m long ravine on
the west bank of the river carried the ford; on the east bank there is a segment of the Fort Zarah
Road leading up from the probable location of the ford (Lees and Schockley 1986:150-151).

Fort Ellsworth was built on the site of the Page and Lehman ranch, abandoned in 1864
because of Indian attacks (Lees and Schockley 1986:21). Deeds and abstracts indicate that
Joseph Lehman bought land from the U.S. Government on the north side of Spring Creek in
Sections 35 and 36, T15S R8W (Lees and Schockley (1986:127). The 1984 field survey resulted
in the identification of five localities, all within those two sections, that may represent the
possible remains of Fort Ellsworth (Lees and Schockley 1986:126-137) (Figure 1.2). Locality 1
is located within the bounds of Locality B as defined by Leaf (1976, 1977) and consists of a
moderate density scatter of historic artifacts. Locality 2, just to the north of Locality 1, is a light
density scatter of historic artifacts; Locality 2 is partially on Government land. Locality 3 is
partially on Government land and consists of at least one well-defined dugout, and possibly,
additional dugouts. Locality 4 is entirely on private land and consists of five well-defined
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dugouts. Locality 5, a scatter of artifacts west of the sandpit, partially overlaps Leaf's (1976,
1977) Locality C.

During the 1984 investigations, artifacts were recovered from the surface of Localities 1
and 2, and from four 1 x 1 m test units placed in Locality 1. A 1 x 1 m test unit placed in front of
the dugout in Locality 3 failed to produce any cultural materials. Testing within the dugout at
Locality 3 and the dugouts at Locality 4 was not attempted because they are located on private
land. Locality 5 was thought to have been seriously disturbed from the adjacent sand pit
operation and therefore was not tested either (Lees and Schockley 1986:126-137)

At Locality 1, artifacts recovered from the surface include a variety of 19th century items:
a cut nail, an iron four-hole trouser button, an aqua bottle finish, and a number of fragments of
olive bottle glass, a type of glass typical on sites dating to the first three-quarters of the 19th
century (Lees and Schockley 1986:130). Tests at Locality 1 also recovered several 19th century
items including cut nails, aqua bottle glass fragments, and olive bottle glass fragments (Lees and
Schockley 1986:Table 19). At Locality 2, several olive bottle glass fragments recovered from
the surface are suggestive of a date to the first three-quarters of the 19th century (Lees and
Schockley 1986:132). The single test unit placed in front of a dugout at Locality 3 failed to
recover any cultural material (Lees and Schockley 1986:132).

The 1984 investigations at Fort Ellsworth were inconclusive. None of the observed
artifact scatters could, with certainty, be associated with Fort Ellsworth. All lacked definite
military items and could just as easily have been associated with the use of the Smoky Hill
Trail/Denver Express Road or the Fort Zarah/Santa Fe Road (Lees and Schockley 1986:136).
Similarly, no archeological evidence could be found to link the dugouts to Fort Ellsworth. Part
of the problem is the fact that the dugouts lie on private land and could not be tested.
Nevertheless, the investigators speculated that these dugouts, situated on the south slope of the

most prominent hill in the area, could be the site of Fort Ellsworth (Lees and Schockley
1986:136-137).

More recently, local amateur archaeologist Harvey Rogers found 19" century historic
artifacts at several sites located west and southwest of the confluence of Spring Creek and the
Smoky Hill River. A brass military button was recovered from the surface of only one site and
no structural remains were observed at any of the sites recorded (Harvey Rogers, pers. comm.,
1996; KSHS archaeological site files). (These sites lie on private property and were not
investigated during this study, however further investigation is recommended to fully investigate
potential ties to Fort Ellsworth; see Chapter 8).

Between 1990-1994 the KCD conducted additional survey in the vicinity of the old
government bridge site and Fort Larned/Fort Zarah Road (14EW105). In 1990, Corps
archeologist Roger Grosser, with assistance from Corps rangers Marcia Thomas and Jim Gray,
identified a new locality in Section 2, T16S R8W that ultimately became the focus of the 1995-
1996 excavations (Figure 1.2, Locality 6). There, in the vicinity of the government bridge site
and Fort Larned/Fort Zarah Road (14EW105) and a stone marker commemorating the Butterfield
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Overland Dispatch route, they identified surface indications of dugouts along the riverbank as
well as a 30 x 50 ft. shallow depression on a knoll overlooking the dugouts that was though to
represent the location of a fort building, possibly the blockhouse or commissary (Figure 1.3). In
addition, 19th-century bottle glass and machine-cut nails were found eroding from one of the
dugouts. Between 1991-1994, the writer visited Locality 6 several times. During these visits,
additional artifacts were recovered from the surface including black (olive-green) bottle
"finishes," a tin can lid from a hole-in-cap type can, machine-cut nails, and an 11/16 in. diameter
four-hole tinned-iron two-piece button. All artifacts recovered between 1990-1994 are consistent
with a 19th century occupation, and the bottle finishes, in particular, date to the third quarter of
the 19th century. Again, not one of the artifacts is a definite military item.

Possible physical evidence of Fort Ellsworth at Locality 6 was especially perplexing
since previous investigators (Mattes 1947, Leaf 1976, 1977; Lees and Schockley 1986) found no
physical or documentary evidence for the fort in that location. Only the late historian Howard
Raynesford, who meticulously researched the Smoky Hill Trail for some 44 years, suggested that
possibility, placing the fort on the north side of the Smoky Hill River on both sides of the
boundary separating Section 35 T15S R8W and Section 2 T16S R8W (Lee and Raynesford
1980:60-61) (this is approximately the location of Localities 5 and 6). Exactly how he came to
this conclusion, however, was not published.

Up to this point, historical document research conducted by previous investigators and
also by the author preceding the 1995 field season, failed to produce indisputable evidence for
the precise location of the fort. Historic maps provided conflicting evidence; one map suggested
that the fort was located in the approximate location of present-day Locality 5 and Locality C
while another map suggested it to be a 1/2 mile to the northwest of the first in a location where
no archaeological features had ever been reported. Regardless of the information shown on these
maps, we felt that Locality 6's location and surviving surface features --numerous dugouts
situated near the military road and river crossings--made it a prime candidate for the site of Fort
Ellsworth. Accordingly, the following research questions were formulated for the 1995 field
season: (1) Is there archaeological evidence that the surface depressions in the riverbank were
indeed dugouts?; (2) Is there archaeological evidence that a structure once stood on the knoll
overlooking the dugouts?; (3) Are 1860s military artifacts associated with these features?; and
(4) What is the degree of integrity of these features and deposits?

Archaeological testing in 1995 indicated that artifact collectors had done some damage,
but overall integrity of the site was good. Other results were encouraging, too. Excavated
building materials and hardware provided indirect evidence of structures. Moreover, unlike the
other 14EW26 localities previously investigated, definite Civil War era military items were
present. With these results in hand, and the presumption that this was the fort site, research
questions were developed to guide further research. These questions are presented in the
following section exactly as they appeared in the Data Recovery Plan prepared before the 1996
fieldwork (Ziegler 1996).
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Research Domains and Questions

The proposed research will focus on the reconstruction of past lifeways, one of several
general problem domains identified in the Kansas Preservation Plan (1989). Research questions
under this problem domain focus on the reconstruction of lifeways or lifeway details that are not
sufficiently recorded in the documentary record. To address the research questions, both
archeological and historical data will be utilized, as both are viewed as essential to the
understanding of the historical past.

Within the general research goal of reconstructing past lifeways, three specific research
domains are addressed in the research: (1) Site structure; (2) subsistence; and (3) material culture.
Site structure refers to the built environment of Fort Ellsworth, including the types of structures
present, their building materials, their ‘condition, and their distribution over the landscape.
Subsistence refers to the types of foods consumed at the fort. Material culture refers to the
artifacts used by the fort's inhabitants to cope with their physical and social environment.

Very little is known regarding past lifeways at Fort Ellsworth, and the research questions
that follow are directed toward a better understanding of lifeways at that particular site. Beyond
that, Fort Ellsworth represents the earliest stage of the development of Fort Harker, and research
data will be useful to researchers studying the history and archeology of Fort Harker. Moreover,
future studies could explore differences in the artifact assemblages from the two sites.

Another reason to study Fort Ellsworth is that we know very little about the earliest
structures at Kansas forts. Many of the permanent forts in Kansas went through several stages of
construction, with the earliest structures most often being tents, dugouts, sod, or adobe buildings
(Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:24). Dugouts, in particular, were constructed at Fort Wallace
(Brown 1986:197), Fort Zarah (Oliva 1982:18), Fort Larned (Oliva 1982:11-12), Fort Dodge
(Brown 1986:48), and Fort Aubrey (Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:27). Dugouts have been
excavated only at Fort Larned and Fort Zarah; the National Park Service’s investigations at Fort
Larned are detailed in Scott (1975:64-70), but no report has ever been written on the Fort Zarah
work undertaken by the Apache Chapter of the Kansas Anthropological Association in the 1970s
(Kansas Preservation Plan 1989:35-36). Research focused on the dugouts at Fort Ellsworth will
add to the understanding of this early type of fort structure.

Site Structure

General Winfield Scott, commenting on the condition of U.S. Army frontier forts in

1857, declared "the troops are... either in tents or such miserable bush and mud huts as they have

hastily constructed for the moment" (Scott in Utley 1981:37). Nearly a decade later, a similar

concern was raised by General William T. Sherman, when he reported that the officers and

troops at Fort Sedgewick, Colorado in 1866 lived in dugouts that were such hovels that they

would not have been used for slave quarters in the prewar South (Knight 1978:114). Living

conditions at frontier forts had not improved much in the eight years that followed, because in

1874 General Sherman said that "Some of what are called military posts are mere collections of
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huts made of logs, adobes, or mere holes in the ground, and are about as much forts as prairie
dog villages might be forts" (Sherman in Utley 1984:82).

The generals were not exaggerating. At newly established Army forts scattered
throughout the West in the third quarter of the 19th century, troops constructed facilities and
quarters with whatever materials were at hand. Usually this meant that officers and enlisted men
lived in hastily constructed dugouts, log, sod, or adobe structures, or tents, or some combination
of all (Rickey 1963:89; Utley 1984:81-82; Knight 1978:112-113). Often, after periods ranging
from several months to several years, these crudely-constructed forts were no longer needed and
the Army abandoned them . However, not all were abandoned. Some matured, were enlarged,
and the temporary facilities and quarters gave way to permanent structures of brick, stone, and
milled lumber (Rickey 1963:95; Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:23-24).

Fort Ellsworth appears to have been one of the "miserable” frontier forts described by
Generals Scott and Sherman. Clearly a temporary fort, it was abandoned in June 1867, just three
years after its establishment. Based on contemporary accounts, temporary dugouts and log
structures, made from locally available materials, appear to have dominated the landscape at Fort
Ellsworth. Descriptions of permanent frame or stone buildings are conspicuously absent from

the accounts. The questions that follow are directed toward a better understanding of the built
environment at Fort Ellsworth.

1. What types of buildings were constructed at Fort Ellsworth? Is there evidence of fences, a
stockade, or sanitary facilities? What building materials were used?

2. Were the dugouts crude, hastily improvised structures as described in written accounts? Is
there any evidence of a pattern of uniformity in the design and construction of the dugouts?

3. What was the layout of the fort? To what extent did natural and cultural factors (e.g., streams,

topography, roads, and defense) figure into the selection of locations for fort buildings and other
structures?

Subsistence

The principle articles of the ration for soldiers at frontier military posts were pork, bacon,
beef, flour, beans and other articles of farm produce, purchased by the commissary department as
near the points of consumption as possible (Welty 1938:161). Fixed by army regulation, the
established daily ration for one person was:

Twelve ounces of pork or bacon, or canned beef (fresh or corned), or one
pound and four ounces of fresh beef, or twenty ounces of salt beef: eighteen
ounces of soft bread or flour, or sixteen ounces of hard bread, or one pound
and four ounces of corn meal; and to have, every one hundred rations, fifteen
pounds of peas or beans, or ten pounds of rice or hominy; ten pounds of green
coffee, or eight of roasted (or roasted and ground) coffee, or two pounds of
tea; fifteen pounds of sugar, four quarts of vinegar; four pounds of soap; four
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pounds of salt; four ounces of pepper; one pound and eight ounces of
adamantine or star candles; and to troops in the field, when necessary, four
pounds of yeast powder to one hundred rations of flour (Custer in Welty;
1938:161).

At frontier outposts, the mainstays of the common ration were likely to be salt pork, beans,
hard bread, and coffee (Welty 1938:161; Rickey 1963:118). However, soldiers supplemented
their diet by hunting buffalo, deer, elk, antelope, grouse, pheasant, and wild turkey. Fishing was
a favorite pastime that also enriched the menu (Utley 1984:86). Other natural foods, besides
game and fish, were used. Wild garlic and lamb's quarter were gathered (Rickey 1969:120), and
in the spring, soldiers collected wild onions (Utley 1984:87). Officers' families often kept
chickens, pigs, and occasionally milk cows (Caperton and Fry 1980:32). Finally, most posts
attempted to cultivate vegetable gardens, but more often than not, the weather and insects
wrought disaster (Utley 1984:86).

Soldiers spent their own money to buy extra food from the post trader, or sutler, as he was
known then. A surviving post trader's list from Fort Larned, Kansas, illustrates a wide variety of
available foods. Examples of food and drink included potatoes, apples, flour, canned tomatoes,
canned peaches, canned oysters, eggs, catsup, chocolate, coffee, tea, beer, and whiskey (Oliva
1982:58). Beginning in 1866, Congress permitted the commissary department to supply, at cost,
canned fruits, canned butter, onions, potatoes, oysters, pickles, spices, and other small stores.
Post traders complained about this practice because they believed it placed the commissary
department in direct and unfair competition with them (Rickey 1963:118; Caperton and Fry
1980:31) :

Food was often of poor quality because it had to be transported by wagon over vast distances,
and it was sometimes spoiled due to improper storage and the length of time in transit.
Sometimes the salt pork was rancid, and the flour had worms in it. Hardtack supplied to the
troops may have been left over from the Civil War (Oliva 1980:45, 1982:63). Once in storage at
the fort, rations were subject to attack from rodents and insects, and subject to spoilage from
improper packaging and poor methods of preservation (Caperton and Fry 1980:28).

Little is known regarding the composition of the diet or the quality of the food supplied to the
troops at Fort Ellsworth because few historical sources discuss foods. The following questions
focus on various aspects of food procurement, consumption, processing, and disposal.

1. What was the composition and quality of the diet?

2. Was the diet representative of the standard issue military rations supplied by the Army's
Commissary Department?

3. Were some foods and beverages likely to have been procured from the post-trader or local
sources?
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4. To what extent did hunting, fishing, or the collecting of wild plant foods supplement the
diet?
5. Were animals butchered or otherwise processed on-site?

6. Where was food cooked on-site? Are there discrete discard areas for food remains?

Material Culture

At frontier military posts, the purchase of all military supplies, except commissary and
ordnance stores, was the responsibility of the quartermaster department. These supplies included
clothing, camp equipage, fuel, horses, forage, wagons, horse equipments, tools, and many other
articles (Welty 1938:166). Stockpiles of Civil War surplus weapons, uniforms, and equipment
were issued to regular army soldiers even after the approval of new uniforms and weapons in the
early 1870s (Rickey 1963:123; Utley 1984:68).

Sutlers provided a great variety of nonfood goods. At Fort Larned in 1863, the Sutler sold
castor oil, cologne, blue jeans, canvas, blankets, chewing tobacco, soap, playing cards, diaper
pins, neckties, candles, wash boards, hoop skirts, lead pencils, smoking pipes, songbooks,
fishhooks, coffee pots, guitar strings, saddles, lanterns, Epsom salt, cloth, pots and pans, hats,
matches, needles and thread, nails, revolvers, buttons, sulfur, hair dye, turpentine, wallets, tin
buckets, axes, padlocks, scissors, mirrors, beads, and horse liniment (Oliva 1982:58).

Currently, much regarding the material life at Fort Ellsworth remains unknown. The first
two research domains dealt with the built environment and diet. The following questions are
directed toward a better understanding of other basic needs.

1. Were the troops well supplied? What types of military clothing, accouterments, and
equipment were supplied to the troops? What types of civilian goods were available at the fort?

2. What types of firearms were supplied to the troops? Did innovations in firearms and
ammunition reach the post rapidly?

3. What was the state of health care and sanitation? Was there a post surgeon (i.e., doctor)?
What kinds of medical supplies were available? Was trash disposal regulated?

Methods

This section describes the methods used in the background and historical research, metal-
detector surveys, archaeological excavations, and artifact processing. Methods utilized in
specialized investigations or analyses of recovered data are fully described in subsequent
chapters and appendices.

14




Background and Historical Research

Background research began with the examination of historic artifact collections from
14EW?26 curated in the Ellsworth County Historical Society and the University of Kansas. Also
examined was the collection of Mr. Lyle Harrell, who lives on the property just to the northeast
of Locality 6. Another local resident interviewed was Lloyd Grothusen, who owns land on the
west bank of Spring Creek. In 1996, Mr. Grothusen escorted the writer and Jim Gray around his
property and shared his knowledge of the land. James Podlina, another local resident who has
collected military artifacts from the Fort Ellsworth/Fort Harker vicinity, was also interviewed.

The author also completed a review of published and unpublished sources housed at the KCD
office, the Kansas City Public Library, the Johnson County Public Library, the Frontier Army
Museum Library at Fort Leavenworth, and the Kansas City Branch of the National Archives. At
the National Archives In Washington, D.C., searches for maps and other relevant documents
were conducted by National Archives staff, and archeologist Richard Fox, Jr., of the University
of South Dakota.

In the spring of 1996, historian Cynthia Baer of American Resources Group, Ltd. conducted
an extensive historical study (Chapter 2). Her work commenced with a search through
bibliographies, archival directories, and historical indexes and references to locate primary and
secondary sources that may be pertinent to Fort Ellsworth. A review of the previous
archeological and historical studies of Kanopolis Lake, the archeological data recovery plan
prepared by the KCD (Ziegler 1996), and other pertinent secondary sources was completed prior
to research. An example of a pertinent source that was reviewed is the U.S. War Department's
129-volume publication titled War of the Rebellion: A Compilation of the Official Records of the
Union and Confederate Armies (1880-1901). Phone calls and Follow-up letters were made to
various archives that contain significant military history or western history collections. For
example, the U.S. Military History Institute at Carlisle Barracks, Pennsylvania, was contacted
regarding their collections and possible reference sources. Then research into primary and
secondary sources was completed at the Kansas State Historical Society, the Salina Public
Library, the Ellsworth County Historical Society, and the Fort Harker Museum. Records that
were examined at these sites includes the papers of Joseph Lehman and Daniel H. Page, the
papers of Allen Ellsworth, the journal of the post sutler at Fort Harker, the papers of Julian Fitch,
the Ellsworth Messenger, the Ellsworth Reporter, the Morrison family collection, and the Robert
Muir papers. Cynthia also visited the site of Fort Ellsworth when fieldwork was in progress in
1996.

Cynthia also completed a trip to the National Archives at the Washington, D.C., location and
at College Park, Maryland. Examples of record groups that were searched include those of the
Department of the Missouri, Department of Kansas, Office of the Surgeon General, Office of the
Inspector General, Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Office of the Quartermaster General, Bureau
of Indian Affairs, Adjutant General's Office, U.S. Army Continental Commands, Office of the
Chief of Engineers, Regular Mobile Army Units, and Bureau of Land Management.
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Metal-Detector Surveys

In 1995, a preliminary survey was conducted over a small area of Locality 6 with the limited
KCD equipment available to the research team: a Tesoro Bandito metal-detector with "all-metal”
mode and a Schonstedt magnetic locator designed to detect only ferrous metals. The 1995
survey was successful in locating surface and near-surface fort-related artifacts, consequently in
1996 a much larger area of Locality 6 was surveyed by a crew of six-to-eight operators with
varying degrees of experience, each using his personally-owned machine. Before each survey,
the prairie grass was mowed to a height of approximately 3-6 in.

Methods for both surveys were essentially the same; operators lined up side-by-side and
walked over a designated survey area in parallel transects, slowly and systematically moving the
detectors from side-to-side (distances between operators of about 6-7 m were employed on flat
and gently sloping areas; distances of 2-3 m were employed within and adjacent to the 14 dugout
features). When the machine indicated a target, the operator inserted a pin flag into the ground to
mark its location. After the survey area was covered, each target was more fully investigated by
pulling the flag and carefully sweeping the metal-detector over the target area to pinpoint the
exact location of the artifact. A small hole was dug to expose the artifact, then its depth was
measured and its location was mapped in. Finally, the artifact was removed and placed in a bag
labeled with a unique field number, the provenience information, and the identification as to the
type of artifact. Then this same information was recorded on a form as well.

All recovered artifacts were mapped in with a land surveyor's transit in 1995 and a Sokkia
EDM total station in 1996. These data were then transferred to a computerized mapping program
to produce distribution maps.

Archaeological Excavations

Prior to the 1995 test excavations, a professional land survey crew from the KCD established
two site datums, each consisting of a permanent aluminum and steel marker set into the ground.
Each marker was tied into a nearby existing permanent concrete monument that marks the trail of
the Butterfield Overland Despatch.

Field methods for the 1995 and 1996 seasons were essentially the same, with one exception.
In 1995, it was decided that the English-based system of measurement would be used because
that is the system under which the fort was constructed. The basic excavation unit was a 5 x 5 ft.
square, excavated in arbitrary 6 in. levels or cultural strata if they could be discerned. A standard
surveyor's transit was used to record vertical measurements. A change was made to the metric
system in 1996 because the English-based system used, with measurements in tenths of a foot,
was confusing to excavators and supervisory archeologists alike. The metric system also fit with
the practices of the Kansas Archeological Training Program. In 1996, the basic excavation unit

was a 2 x 2 m square, excavated in arbitrary 10 or 20 c¢m levels or cultural strata if they could be
discerned.
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All excavation work in 1995 and 1996 was conducted by hand, using shovels, trowels, and
other appropriate small tools. Excavated soil was passed through 1/4 in. mesh hardware cloth.
Excavators or supervisors filled out a standard form for each unit or feature level. This form was
used to record basic information including site number, unit number, level, depth, name of
excavator, samples taken, soil conditions, types of artifacts present, disturbances, relevant
personal observations, photographs taken, and the date. A separate form was used for piece-plots
of individual artifacts or special samples. Cultural features were denoted on a longer form to
record location, observations on size and depth, and contents. Recovered artifacts were placed in
paper bags labeled with the site number, provenience information (unit/feature/level), date, and
name of the excavator. Bagged material was transmitted to the field laboratory each afternoon
for processing.

Pit features were cored with an Oakfield corer prior to excavation to recover information
regarding the depth and complexity of the fill. Then the feature was drawn in plan-view,
photographed, and excavated in cross-section. A detailed profile of the remaining half was then
drawn, photographed in B&W and color, and excavated.

Potential post molds were excavated in cross-section prior to assignment of feature numbers
in order to verify that they in fact postmolds and not rodent runs. Once verified, a feature
number was assigned, plan and profile views were drawn, and the feature was photographed.
Then the remaining portion of the feature was excavated.

Samples of feature fill and from a number of "control" excavation levels were recovered for
flotation. The minimum sample size was two liters. Once samples were floated, light and heavy
fractions were allowed to dry. Dry samples were bagged, labeled, and stored until they could be
sorted into raw material classes (glass, metal, ceramics, bone, etc.) and botanical remains.

A clearly identifiable cultural layer constituted the floor of each dugout. Consequently, all
adjacent units were first excavated to this floor-level, then excavation proceeded until the sterile
subsoil was reached. All identifiable structural features of the dugout were mapped and
photographed in color and B&W.

Artifact Processing, Cataloging, and Curation

The relatively small artifact collection recovered during the 1995 testing of the site was
cleaned, air dried, and rebagged in Kansas City by the writer. Sorting and cataloging of the 1995
collection was accomplished at the field laboratory facility located in the town of Kanopolis
during the 1996 field season. Methods used to sort and catalog the 1995 collection were the
same as those employed for the 1996 collection as described below.

Artifacts were processed in the field laboratory in Kanopolis. An experienced laboratory
supervisor oversaw the daily processing of artifacts. In the laboratory, a provenience code was
assigned to each bag of artifacts from each level or feature. A list of all provenience codes
assigned to bags of artifacts from the site and a bag list which records all of the information from
each sack and the provenience code for that sack was made before the processing of materials
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began. Artifacts were cleaned by whatever method is appropriate to the material: tap water for
durable items, dry brushing for metal, and careful cleaning with a dry soft brush for fragile
objects. Artifacts, as well as wood and soil samples, were placed with field bags on screen
drying racks to air dry.

Once dry, the artifacts were sorted and then placed in plastic bags with tags identifying the
proper provenience information. High frequency items, such as nails or unidentifiable metal
fragments, were bulk bagged. Potentially diagnostic items (bullets, cartridge cases, buttons,
coins, whole bottles, or sherds containing maker's marks or labeling) were individually bagged.

Next, artifacts were catalogued. The catalog number consists of the site number, provenience
code number, with a third unique identifying number added in the case of potentially diagnostic
items. High frequency items were bulk catalogued. Paper catalog sheets provided spaces for
provenience information and artifact descriptions. Data recorded were site number, area,
excavation unit, feature number, level number, depth, and provenience code. Artifact-specific
information included specimen number, item count, weight, material, function, type, subtype

(object), portion, length/ height, width/diameter, thickness/depth, color, decoration, and
comments.

Once recovered materials were cataloged, analysis proceeded. Analytical procedures are
detailed below in each of the separate analyses of recovered materials (Chapter 4, artifacts;
Chapter 5, faunal remains; Chapter 6, botanical remains). All artifacts and all records associated
with this project are permanently curated at the Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka.

The Prehistoric Component

The research reported in this volume focused on a better understanding of the historic
military occupation of the site, but soldiers clearly were not the first to occupy it. Previous
researchers identified the presence of prehistoric lithic and ceramic artifacts at several localities
(Smith 1949; Leaf 1976, 1977; Lees and Schockley 1987), and in the 1995-1996 excavations a
small collection of prehistoric lithics and ceramics was recovered at Locality 6. Nearly 100% of
these items came from the highest portion of Locality 6, the knoll, where the intermixing of
prehistoric and historic deposits in the upper excavation levels indicates that soldiers, in the
construction of fort buildings or other facilities, dug into the prehistoric occupation (see Chapter
3). Richard A. Fox (Appendix B) describes the 1995-1996 prehistoric collection in this report;
based upon ceramics he places the prehistoric occupation within the Smoky Hill (AD 1000-1300)
or Upper Republican (AD 1100-1400) Phases.
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CHAPTER 2

HISTORICAL CONTEXT

by
Cynthia L. Baer

Saline River, Kansas, September 1, 1866

We left Fort Ellsworth this morning. With the exception of General Palmer, commanding,
there appeared to be no officers present. Absent, probably, on detached service. Falling
asleep last night while listening to the barks and yelps of the coyote, or prairie-wolf, and
dreaming of running a pack of them on the prairie, we are suddenly and pleasantly
awakened by a swell and burst of rich harmony on the night air. As we become conscious
it is music, the joyous song of the merry "Barber of Seville" awakens the echoes of the hills:

"Bravo, bravissimo, Figaro, bravo!

Tutti me chiedono,

Tutti me vogliono,

Son barbiere di qualita,

Trala, la, la, la, la, la!”
It was the band.of the Second Cavalry serenading our General. Then came familiar airs that
told us of those we love at home. And so I fell asleep and dreamed I was there (Meline
1966:297-298).

Introduction

Established in 1864 as one of a string of forts along the Smoky Hill/Denver Express Road,
Fort Ellsworth provides a compelling study of a small slice of Kansas history. The fort was
specifically situated at the junction of the Smoky Hill/Denver Express Road and the Fort Riley/Fort
Larned Road, otherwise known as the Smoky Hill Crossing (Figure 2.1). These roads led to points
both west and southwest. From 1864 to 1866, troops garrisoned at Fort Ellsworth provided
assistance and protection to the outlying settlements along the roads and to the many government
and civilian caravans passing by. :

The Smoky Hills During the 1850s and Early 1860s

One of the earliest Indian groups known to have inhabited the Smoky Hills region was the
Kansa. This tribe was noted by the French as early as the late 1600s. In 1702 the tribe was said to
consist of 1,500 people. Although French settlement took place primarily along the Mississippi
River, they did launch exploratory missions west into Missouri and Kansas in hopes of widening
their trade network. The first fort in Kansas was built in 1744 near a Kansa village located in the
vicinity of present-day Fort Leavenworth. This fort was called Fort Cavagnial. French control of
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the region lasted until 1763, when Spain gained title to the region as a compensation for losses
incurred during the French and Indian War. After Spain retroceeded the region back to France in
1801, America purchased the region from France in 1803. One of the first expeditions into the new
American territory was undertaken by Meriwether Lewis and William Clark in 1804. They crossed
the northeastern corner of Kansas during their explorations. In 1806 Captain Zebulon Montgomery
Pike transversed the region, and he was the first to use the term "Smoky Hill" to describe the region
in a published report (Barr et al. 1977:13-16; Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:21; Mattes 1947:7).

In 1821 Mexico gained its independence from Spain, and trade networks between Mexico
and America were established. America quickly became concerned with protecting the valuable
caravans traveling to and from Santa Fe. In 1827 Colone]l Henry Leavenworth was directed to select
a site for a cantonment on the Missouri River to serve the military charged with policing the road.
Cantonment Leavenworth was renamed Fort Leavenworth in 1834, when it became a permanent
post. The post quickly became a starting point for explorers and pioneers preparing to travel on the
Santa Fe Trail, as well as a starting point for California, Oregon, and the Colorado gold mines (Barr
et al. 1977:17; Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:21).

One of the trails that started from Fort Leavenworth was the Smoky Hill Trail. This trail was
originally an Indian trail following the Smoky Hill River to its source. The winding trail was not
heavily used by white travelers, however, until the rush for Colorado gold in 1859. The following
year a shorter and straighter route was laid from Fort Leavenworth to Denver. This trail provided a
more direct route to Pike's Peak than either the Santa Fe Trail or the Platte route. This road was used
by the various stage companies until the coming of the railroad in the late 1860s. The trail was still
dangerous, however, as the area was heavily populated by Indians and there was a scarcity of wood
for fuel along the route (Lee and Raynesford 1980:34-45; Mattes 1947:15; Wilson 1979:2).

One of the first well-documented explorations of the Smoky Hill River area was by Captain
John C. Fremont. On the return from an expedition to California in July of 1844, Fremont descended
the fork of the Smoky Hill River. He followed the river below the site of the future Fort Ellsworth
to cross over the Santa Fe Road. During his trip he ecountered Pawnee Indians and narrowly escaped
attack. Other Indian tribes living in this region at this time included the Kiowa and Comanche (Lee
and Raynesford 1980:11-13).

Due to the increasing number of Indian thefts of livestock and goods from wagon trains,
additional military posts were established along the major rivers and trails running through Kansas.
In 1853, one year before the Territory of Kansas was created, Fort Riley was established at the
junction of the Republican and Smoky Hill rivers. Another fort, Fort Larned, was established in 1859
at the Pawnee Fork of the Arkansas River. These forts provided escorts and safe lodging for the
many wagon trains of settlers and merchants proceeding to the west. The forts were primarily
supplied by Fort Leavenworth. Fort Larned also served as a headquarters for Indian agents (Kansas
Preservation Plan 1987:22; Mattes 1947:8).
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During the 1850s, several exploratory trips were commenced up the Smoky Hill River
valley. Explorers included Captin J. Pope in 1851, Captain J. W. Gunnison in 1853, and Lieutenant
F. T. Bryanin 1855. Bryan was conducting a survey for a road connecting Fort Riley with the Santa
Fe Trail. His route followed the Kansas River and the Pawnee Fork of the Arkansas River to a point
above the Cimarron Crossing, then to Bent's New Fort in the Big Timbers. When he returned to Fort
Riley, Bryan reported that a good wagon trail existed, but suggested that a heavy train be driven over
it to further demarcate it. This road became variously known as the Santa Fe Road, the Fort Riley
Road, and the Fort Larned Road. After the construction of Fort Zarah in 1864 at the junction of the
road and the Santa Fe Trail, it became known as the Fort Zarah Road (Goetzman 1959:368-369; Lees
and Shockley 1986:145; Mattes 1947:7).

Another recommendation made by Bryan in 1855 was to construct three bridges along the
road. The bridges were to cross the Solomon's F ork, the Saline, and the Smoky Hill Fork. In 1856
James A. Sawyer, a civilian contractor, was hired to construct the bridges. He was accompanied by
an escort of Army dragoons to provide protection against raiding Cheyennes. It is stated that the
construction party used a portable steam sawmill to build the bridges. Bryan's assistant, Coote
Lombard, stated that "The bridging of this road has induced settlers to move out at least forty miles
beyond the heretofore bounds of civilization, i.e. at and beyond the Saline Bridge. I expect that there
will be settlers at the Kaw [Smoky Hill] River Bridge, eighty-five miles west of Fort Riley by next
spring---the opening of this road has pushed the settlements beyond where they would be if the road
had not been opened" (Quoted in Goetzmann 1959:369). The government bridge at the Smoky Hill
Crossing, future site of Fort Ellsworth, was supposedly swept away by a flood in 1858 (Shoaf
1938:6). It is not known whether the bridge was rebuilt or not, although it is known that a ford across
the river was in use a short distance below the bridge site (Figure 2.2). Notes made by U.S.
Surveyors in 1866 refer to the location at 1.5 chains west along the boundary of Section 35, T158S,
R8W, as the "old bridge site,” which leads one to believe that either a new bridge was built in
another location or the bridge was not replaced at all (Mattes 1947:9). After 1858 Congress did not
grant any further appropriations for military roads in Kansas (Goetzmann 1959:370).

Coote Lombard's prediction of settlements extending to the Smoky Hill River bridge held
true. Settlement was encouraged in Kansas with the publication of two books. Kanzas and Nebraska,
published by Edward E. Hale in Boston in 1854, was the first book to be published that described
the region. Another book, The Kansas Region, published by Max Green in 1859, gave "glowing
accounts of the Smoky Hill Valley" (Mattes 1947:8). In 1860 the first group of settlers arrived in the
vicinity of the Smoky Hill River bridge. At the forefront was P. M. "Smoky Hill" Thompson.
Thompson was originally from New Jersey, and he quickly established a claim along the creek
which bears his name today. Other settlers included Henry and Irwin Farris, Adam Weadle, and S.
D. Walker, all of whom arrived later in 1860 and located on Clear Creek. Two men, Joseph Lehman
and Daniel H. Page, established a claim along the Smoky Hill River at the future site of Fort
Ellsworth on the Fort Riley Road (Andreas 1883:1274; Shoaf 1938:6; Mead 1986:59-60, 98).
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Gardner photograph of bull train crossing Smoky Hill River, Ellsworth County, 1867. (Courtesy of Kansas State

Historical Society.)

Figure 2.2.




Joseph Lehman was born in Buffalo, New York, in January of 1846 (Figure 2.3). Nothing
is known about his parents, and he left home at an early age. Lehman met Daniel H. Page in 1858
at Westport Landing, Missouri. Page and Lehman visited New Mexico and Arizona before returning
to Kansas in 1859 or 1860. They established their claim on the Smoky Hill River in 1860 and
remained there until May of 1864. Lehman married Sarah Jane Combs on November27, 1864. They
remained in Saline County until 1867, when they moved to McPherson County, Kansas. Sarah died
in 1878, leaving four children. After her death, Joseph moved with his children to Gunnison,
Colorado. He died there in 1890 (Vassar 1988:195-197; Campbell 1928a). Daniel Hussey Page was
the son of Benjamin Page and Hulda Hussey (Figure 2.4). He was born on 13 April 1834 in New
Hampshire. After attending both Phillips Exeter Academy and Bowdoin College, he worked as a
tutor until traveling to Kansas in 1858. After moving from the ranch to Salinain 1864, Page enlisted
with the volunteer militia assembled at Salina. Page married Margret Jane (Maggie) Combs, Sarah's
sister, in 1866. They moved to McPherson County, Kansas, shortly thereafter. They had 11 children,
and later moved on to Higgins, Texas, during the 1880s. Page died in Texas in 1906 (Vassar
1988:199-201; Campbell 1928b).

Land records indicate that Joseph Lehman purchased from the United States government the
land located on the north side of Spring Creek in Sections 35 and 36, T15S, R8W (Lees and
Shockley 1986:127). Three buildings and a large field were recorded at this location on a map drawn
by the General Land Office in 1862. The structures were labeled "U.S. Mail Station" (F igure 2.5).
The structures have been described as a two-story log house and some outbuildings (Lyon 1879:25).
The survey notes of the General Land Office state that at approximately 396 feet north along the line
separating Sections 35 and 36 was "Joseph Lemon's [sic] house, a U.S. Mail Station, 4.00 chains
[264 feet] West of line," which places it east of the Smoky Hill River. Sixty-six feet further north

the survey line crossed "A road to Pawnee fork bears S. 70[degrees] East and West" (Campbell
1928a; King 1996:2).

The primary occupation of Lehman and Page was hunting. The land provided a more than
ample supply of buffalo, wild turkey, and other game. Lehman and Page were described by atraveler
as young men who lived "by killing buffalo for their pelts and tallow, and by killing wolves for their
pelts." A living could be made off of the killing of buffalo at that time. Dried buffalo hides sold for
five cents a pound in Leavenworth (Choitz 1967:4; Mattes 1947:10). Lehman and Page also engaged
in farming, planting corn and wheat on the river bottom (Lyon 1879:26; Miner 1986:41; Campbell
1928a). Farming on the Kansas frontier for Page and Lehman was rough. A drought hit the area from
1859 to 1860, and grasshoppers periodically ravaged fragile corn fields as well (Wilson 1979:2).

The location of the Page and Lehman ranch along the Fort Riley/Fort Larned road provided
an ideal situation for the establishment of a store, because the road was frequently used by both the
military and civilians. Items they kept on hand included whiskey, molasses, clothing, tobacco,
medicine, sewing supplies, flour, mall rings, plows, postage stamps, log chains, and ely caps. They
grew their own produce, which they sold in the store. Produce included corn, onions, radishes,
cabbage, potatoes, sweet corn, and beans. The winter months were spent hunting and
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Figure 2.4. Photograph of Daniel H. Page. (Courtesy of
Salina Public Library, Campbell Room of Kansas Research.)

Figure 2.3. Photograph of Joseph Lehman. (Courtesy of
Salina Public Library, Cambell Room of Kansas Research.)
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making fences. On one trip in March of 1862 Lehman and his neighbor Farris killed 107 wolves. On
another trip in April of 1862 Lehman and Farris killed 61 buffalo. Page spent much of his time
during the winter of 1862 constructing fence posts and rails. By mid-April of 1862 he had cut and
morticed a total of 546 posts. In addition, weekly stage service was set up between Junction City and
Fort Larned during the fall of 1862 by the Kansas Stage Company. The company chose the Page and
Lehman ranch in August of 1862 as the only station in the area. The stage was contracted to deliver
the mail to the station from Salina, Kansas, the closest town (Andreas 1883:1274; Shoaf 1938:6;
Campbell 1928a). Part of Page and Lehman's duties for the stage company included feeding the
stage's drivers and passengers and taking care of the stage mules. Usually there were four mules to
be fed and watered (Campbell 1928a; Wilson 1979:2).

The Territory of Kansas was created with the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act in 1854.
This act both opened the area for settlement and left the question of slavery up to the Kansas voters.
For ten years, from 1855 to 1865, pro-slave and free-state partisans fought violently in eastern
Kansas along the Missouri border. The Governor of the Territory was unable to contain the fighting
with militia forces, and federal troops at Fort Leavenworth were ordered to assist them in 1856
(Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:24; Wagner et al. 1993:21-22). Even though Kansas entered into
the Union in January of 1861 as a free state, conflict still continued between the two factions. Chief
among the skirmishes during the Civil War years was Quantrill's raid in August of 1863. William
Quantrill, a pro-slavery guerrilla from Missouri, attacked the city of Lawrence before dawn. The
attack left 183 men dead and a significant portion of the city demolished (King 1996:1; Monaghan
1955:281-287). The Page and Lehman ranch was hit by a party of 18 "Bushwackers" or proslavery
raiders in September of 1863. Traveling west, the party raided Salina before hitting the ranch of the
Faris brothers. The next to be struck was the Page and Lehman ranch. There they seized a pony and
double-barrelled shot gun belonging to Page and Lehman, and four mules belonging to the Kansas
Stage Company (Choitz 1967:5; Lyon 1879:33; Mead 1986:117-118). In 1864 General Sterling Price
of the Confederate forces marched to Kansas City, Missouri, but was defeated in a battle at Westport.
He was again defeated south of the town of Trading Post in Linn County on 25 October 1864. That
battle involved 25,000 men (Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:69-71).

In addition to the conflicts erupting between Americans over the slavery question, conflicts
~ also erupted between the white settlers and the Indians. In 1834 Kansas was included within a large
reservation designated "Indian Country." Despite the fact that various Indian tribes still held titles
to Kansas land, the United States organized the Territory of Kansas in 1854 and opened up the land
for settlement. Shortly thereafter the cities of Leavenworth, Atchison, Topeka, and Lawrence were
founded, and forts began to be built along the trails (Andriot 1980:275). Treaties were eventually
reached with the Delaware, Kickapoo, Miami, Shawnee, Piankasha, Wyandot, Kaw, Chippewa, Sac,
Fox, Potawatomie, Ottowa, Cherokee, and Osage from 1854 to 1867 (Wagner et al. 1989:33). The
remaining tribes, such as the Pawnee, Cheyenne, Sioux, and Comanche, continued to live and hunt
within the area, but they became increasingly frustrated as the white settlers began exterminating the
buffalo. As a result, they began to strike out at the white settlers on the roads and in isolated
settlements (Andriot 1980:275; Kansas Preservation Plan 1987:22; Wagner et al. 1989:33).
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On 17 May 1864 the Cheyennes attacked the ranches on the Fort Riley/Fort Larned Road.
At a ranch on Cow Creek, S. D. Walker, who tended stock for the Kansas Stage Company, was
killed. The other men at the ranch fired back, killed two of them, and wounded another, but the
remainder of the Cheyennes escaped. The men fled the ranch and spread the alarm. The settlers
congregated at Page and Lehman's ranch, where they set up watch. Although the expected attack did
not materialize, the settlers as a group decided that it was unsafe to return to their ranches and they
left for Salina. A ranch on Walnut Creek was also approached by the Cheyennes, but due to the
owner having a Cheyenne wife, he was only wamned to leave or be killed and his wife taken prisoner.
The reason the Cheyennes gave for their attack was that they had just fought with Colorado troops,
and their chief was killed. In retaliation, they were going to kill all of the white people they could
find in the area. Troops from Fort Riley were sent out, and they discovered the body of S. D. Walker
and the ranches along the road deserted. At Fort Larned, where the Colorado troops were stationed,
a council was held with the Arapahoes, Kiowas, and Comanches who were present at the fort. All
of the representatives stated that they were against war, but only the Comanches critized the
Cheyennes for their actions. It was also stated that the Sioux were participating with the Cheyennes,
and that they were still within the Smoky Hills and watching the road. It was estimated that the
Kansas Stage Company had lost 16 mules during the attacks. Although the Fort Riley troops could
find no proof that the ranchmen were selling whiskey to the Indians, it was suspected that some on
the Santa Fe Trail and one on the Fort Riley Road had been trading revolvers with them. The attacks
resulted in the decision by the United States to step up their security measures along the Smoky
Hill/Denver Express and Fort Riley/Fort Larned road by establishing more military forts (Andreas
1883:698, 1274; Shoaf 1938:6; U.S. War Department 1893, 34(4):149-150).

The Founding and Development of Fort Ellsworth

The United States quickly responded to the threat of Indian violence. In June of 1864 Major
T. I. McKenny, Inspector-General of the Department of Kansas, led a cavalry troop to the site of the
abandoned Page and Lehman ranch at the Smoky Hill Crossing of the Fort Riley/Fort Larned Road.
As the Smoky Hill Crossing was thought to be one of the most dangerous and important points along
the road, especially since it was expected that the Denver mail would be transferred along that route
in the future, McKenny initiated the construction of a blockhouse at the site. He then left it to be
completed by 2nd Lieutenant Allen Ellsworth and 40 men of Company H, 7th Iowa Cavalry. Major
McKenny's report to the Assistant Adjutant-General of the Department of Kansas stated that:

I proceeded the following morning to erect a block-house from timbers which I found
already cut, and which were already hewed on two sides, but it was found necessary
to hew the other two sides on account of the crookedness of the logs. On the 13th,
having one story of the building up, left it with instructions, in charge of Lietenant

Ellsworth, of the 7th Iowa Cavalry, to finish (U.S. War Department 1893,
34[4]:402-404).

The fortification was one of several built along the Smoky Hill/Denver Express and Fort
Rily/Fort Larned roads to help protect settlers, stages, and other travelers from Indian attacks. Fort
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Ellsworth was also established "to furnish a point from which operations could be carried on against
the Indians, who were very troublesome during the greater part of the rebellion” (King 1996:2).

The fort was named in honor of 2nd Lieutenant Ellsworth at a dress parade at Fort Larned
the following July (Figure 2.6). The announcement was made by General S. R. Curtis, Commander
of the Department of Kansas. Ellsworth had mustered into Co. H. of the 7th Iowa Cavalry on 13 July
1863 (Ellsworth 1878; Hummel 1938:1).

The only documented structure known to have been built in 1864 was the two-story
blockhouse. The materials used in the construction included hewed logs found at the site, which were
probably left by Page and Lehman when they deserted the ranch a month earlier. Intended to be only
temporary, the fort does not appear to have been improved upon until the following year.

In 1865 many travelers ventured past Fort Ellsworth in wagon trains headed to points west
and southwest. From some of the surviving accounts, the changes in the physical structure of the fort
can be documented. One such account was left by William Darnell. Darnell was employed as a
teamster at Fort Riley. He was in charge of driving supply wagons to the forts that had been
established along the Fort Riley/Fort Larned road and the Santa Fe Trail. His first order was to
deliver 25 wagons to forts Ellsworth, Zarah, and Dodge. He made note of Fort Ellsworth during his
trp.

The most imposing building there at this time was the commissary's building, a sod house
about 25 by 40 feet in size, overlooking the Smoky Hill River. The barracks and officer's
quarters consisted of dugouts in the bank along the river front. No stockade of any sort
surrounded the fort. It was the first and only settlement between Salina and Fort Zarah on the
Arkansas River, and was about a one company post (Root 1928:509-510).

Another person who made note of Fort Ellsworth while passing through was John Morrill.
Morrill wrote a letter to his wife and children on 23 September 1865 that described some of the
structures at the fort.

We are now in camp at Ft E as it is termed but you would smile to see the Ft. there 1s a
groupe [sic] of log shanties covered with dirt. most of the windows are made of boards hung
on leather hinges & made to swing open & shut. there is two or three of them which have a
half window sash & some of them two or mor [sic] lights of glass in them. I suppose the
aristocracy reside in them which have the glass. it is a military post there are soldiers
established here. there is but verry [sic] few log shakes perhaps 8 or ten in all & a cat could
go in & out of them between the logs. there is a row of caves along the river bank in which
“the Soldiers burrow in winter (Morrill 1865).
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Figure 2.6.  Photograph of 2nd Licutenant Allen Ellsworth. (Courtesy of Kansas
State Historical Society.)
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Based on the above accounts, more structures were built at Fort Ellsworth since the
construction of the blockhouse in 1864. These structures included a 25 by 40 ft. sod commissary
building, dugouts along the creek bank for soldiers, and log shanties possibly for the
noncommissioned officers and officers. Another description of the dugouts described the placement
of them in relation to each other.

Any place a bank existed along Spring Creek or the Smoky Hill River, there were dugouts.
One section of Spring Creek where the bank was exceptionally steep, was lined with three
tiers of the dwellings. The roof of the lowest provided a "front porch” for the one above, and
so on. To a person standing on the parade ground [of new post completed in 1867] looking
toward the west, southwest and northwest, the sight of smoke pouring forth from hundreds
of chimneys projecting from unseen dwellings was said to have suggested a view of the
"infernal regions!" (Mitchell 1987:2).

Unfortunately, few military records from the post and no maps exist for the years 1864 and
1865, thus there is little to document the above descriptions (National Archives [NA] 1865-1869:De
Courcy to J. Jacobs, 3 December 1865). However, information on similar structures dating to the
same period are available for other Kansas forts. John Morrill also described Fort Zarah and Fort
Larned in 1865. He wrote on 26 September 1865 that at Fort Zarah "All most all the building are
caves dug in the river Bank & what few there are on top of the ground are covered with earth”
(Morrill 1865). At Fort Larned he wrote on 2 October 1865 that the

buildings are mostly built of mud made into large square blocks & dried. then laid into a
wall. mud being used for sement [sic] or mortar. then they are covered with polls & brush
& then covered with dirt. they will answer for dry weather but cannont shed water. There is
one of a similar wall covered with Shingles. also one Stone one shingled. There is two made
by sitting posts endwise in the ground near together & covering with dirt but the greatest
number are made by excibating [sic] in the bank & then covering with dirt. These latter are
used as quarters for soldiers (Figure 2.7) (Morrill 1865).

By February of 1866 the temporary structures at Fort Ellsworth were beginning to show wear
and tear. Commanding Officer John Green of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry reported to Fort Leavenworth
that the post was without a stable, and the "horses are only sheltered from the weather by a mass of
brush and dirt that was thrown up temporarily for that purpose” last December with what materials
were on hand. The post was also in need of storehouses for the quartermaster and commissary stores.
With regard to the quarters, Green stated that "The Officers on duty at the Post (three in number) are
living in three small huts. The Quarters occupied by the enlisted men consist of a poor set of log
huts, nearly all of them without windows, and so low that a man can scarcely stand upright in them;
without floors and are much in need of repair. I would therefore respectfully recommend that
material and mechanics be furnished to put this post in a proper state of repair." (NA 1865-1869:J.
Green to G. Smith, 7 February 1866).
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On 20 February 1866 Fort Ellsworth was officially established as a permanent post (NA
1865-1869:Council of Administration, 30 June 1866). With that designation, plans started to be
made to set boundaries for a military reservation and to upgrade the post physically. The post,
however, had difficulty in surveying the military reservation. In order to complete this task, specific
engineering tools and know-how was needed, and both were lacking at the post. In a letter to
headquarters on 12 March 1866, Kilburn Knox stated that it was impossible for any of the officers
to make the survey due to the lack of instruments. It was his suggestion that an officer of the
engineers be ordered to the post to complete the survey (NA 1865-1869:K. Knox to Col. Reeve, 12
March 1866). In March the boundary lines were unofficially set as follows: the eastern boundary was
formed at Clear Creek; the western boundary extended five miles west from the post; the northern
boundary extended five miles north from the post; and the southern boundary extended five miles
south from the post, "Making a reservation of ten miles square" (NA 1865-1869:Special Order No.
15, 2 March 1866).

Three fires broke out at the post in early April. The first fire occurred on 8 April 1866 in the
area of the government hay stacks. The fire began in the afternoon while the commanding officer,
Kilburn Knox, was busy receiving stores from a Fort Zarah wagon. When notified of the fire, he had
the entire post turned out to put out the flames. After a quiet night, the fire caught again the
following morning and a large amount of hay was destroyed. Knox made a request for an
investigationinto the fire (NA 1865-1869:K. Knox to R. Torrey, 9 April 1866). The third fire started
on 12 April at 8:30 p.m. This time the fire destroyed all of the hay remaining, estimated to be about
70 tons. Fortunately, the fire was prevented from spreading to the storehouses and quarters (NA
1865-1869:K. Knox to R. Torrey, 12 April 1866).

Specific plans began to be made in April for a new, upgraded post. In a 16 April 1866 report,
a list of the buildings needed to sufficiently garrison the troops and supplies for one year was made.
The buildings included at least six sets of quarters, four kitchens, three mess rooms, two storerooms,
three offices, three stables, and a hospital. These estimates were designed to provide for two
companies of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry with field and staff, band, and headquarters; two companies of
the 3rd U.S. Infantry; and the space required for a year's supply of quartermaster and commissary
stores. In justification for the number of buildings listed, it was also stated in the report that, "The
old Quarters at this post consists of low log huts without windows of any description which are
utterly irrepairable and in Summer will be entirely uninhabitable” (NA 1865-1869:J. Green to Asst.
Adjt. General, 16 April 1866).

By June of 1866 building of the new post had commenced. This is documented by Special
Order No. 68, dated 15 June 1866, which ordered the acting assistant quartermaster to issue paulins
or old canvas to all company commanders for use as rain shelters by men working on the building
of the new post (NA 1865-1869:Special Orders No. 68b, 15 June 1866). The chosen site of the new
post was three-quarters of a mile to the northeast of the 1864 post.
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In a “Description of Fort Ellsworth, Kansas and Reservation,* prepafed by William
Hoelcken, Chief Engineer of the Department of Missouri, and sent to the Adjutant General of the
U.S. Army on 15 October 1866, the original site of Fort Ellsworth was described:

Fort Ellsworth is situated on the east bank of the Smoky Hill River, on an elevated
piece of ground, about thirty feet above the water. There are about a dozen buildings,
which are made of logs set into the ground “post fashion,” with roofs constructed of
poles and brush, and a coat of about six inches of sand. About one mile north east of
the present Fort, on an excellent elevation, are being erected buildings, for the new
Post; the company quarters are being built after the same style as the old ones, but

more substantial and better timber is being used (NA 1866-1938:Engineer’s Office,
15 October 1866).

The official military reservation was designated by the President of the United States on 3
November 1866. The reservation encompassed the following: Sections 19, 30, and 31 of T15S,
R7W; Sections 22-27 and 34-36 of T1 5S, R8W; Section 6 of T168, R7W; and Sections 1-3 of T168,

R8W (Figure 2.8) (NA 1866-1938:A. Funk to F. Foster, 2 May 1938; NA 1866-1938:Engineer’s
Office, 15 October 1866).

A map and a drawing were made at this time showing the geographical location of the fort.
The map, "Military Reservation at Fort Ellsworth, Kansas," dated 15 October 1866, shows the
location of the original fort in Section 35 (Figure 2.8). The drawing is a topographical sketch by
Daingerfield Parker, the commanding officer at the post on 7 November 1866. Although not to scale,

the map shows the fort in relation to the numerous rivers in the area (Figure 2.9) (NA 1865-1869:D.
Parker to L. Thomas, 7 November 1866).

Work continued on the new post throughout the fall, although it was slowed up on occasion
due to the heavy details of infantry sent out from the post on escort duty. With the onset of winter,
the commanding officer, Daingerfield Parker, wished to push forward the work on the new quarters
as rapidly as possible because the "temporary huts-at this Post such as they are-are not sufficient to

accomodate all the officers now stationed here" (NA 1865-1869:D. Parker to Lieut. Bonsall, 6
November 1866).

In November of 1866 a request was forwarded to the adjutant general of the U.S. Army to
have the name of the post changed. Alfred Gibbs, the commanding officer, stated, "It is generally
understood that it [Fort Ellsworth] is named after the Officer who erected a block house here, and
who was afterward dismissed [from] the service for various unofficerlike and ungentlemanly
offences." Suggestions for the new name of the post included Fort McQuesten and Fort Buford. The
chosen designation, Fort Harker, was ordered by Major General Hancock in honor of General
Charles Garrison Harker (NA 1865-1869:A. Gibbs to L. Thomas, 21 November 1866; NA
1865-1869:Orders No. 5, 22 November 1866; NA 1866-1938:General Order No. 22, 17 November
1866). Born in New Jersey in December of 1835, General Harker graduated from West Point in
1858. By 1861 he had been promoted to the rank of colonel. From 1861 to 1864 he participated in
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the battle of Shiloh, the siege of Corinth, the battle of Chicamauga, and the battle at Chattanooga.
During the Battle of Kenesaw Mountain on 27 June 1864, General Harker died from fatal wounds
(King 1996:5-6).

While work continued through the winter at the new post, many men and officers continued
to live at the original post (Mattes 1947:18). One of these officers was Lieutenant Frank Baldwin.
Alice Blackwood Baldwin vividly described the two-room dugout she and her husband lived in
while their quarters were being constructed at Fort Harker. Mrs. Baldwin's first impressions of the
dugout provide a rare glimpse into the interior of these structures. Her description of the front room
of the dugout, the kitchen, is as follows:

When I first entered my new abode I gazed with disgusted disappointment around the
bare, squalid room. Its conveniences were limited to one camp chair, two empty
candle boxes, and a huge box stove, red with rust and grime, its hearth gone and the
space filled with a tobacco-stained hill of ashes, the peak of which was surmounted
by "chewed-out quids" of unknown vintage--but they were there! The sordid interior
filled me with gloom, scarcely lessened by the four-paned glass window, dirty, dim,
and curtainless (Baldwin 1928:122).

Upon further exploration of the kitchen, she wrote:

I found the kitchen scarcely big enough to contain a stove, and such an array of
cooking utensils as I have never beheld lay on the dirt floor and on a packing box,
which served duty as a kitchen table! The walls of the kitchen were stayed and
supported by logs, while the ceiling was of the same material and covered with dirt.
The logs had not been trimmed or cut off, and obliged one to bend low when passing
underneath (Baldwin 1928:123).

Meals were prepared in the kitchen by a servant, a Dutchman by the name of John Lick, and
during the winter wolves often gnawed and scratched around the kitchen door. A few steps led up
from the kitchen to the outside (Figure 2.10) (Baldwin 1928:122, 125)

The inner room, the so-called "drawing room," had a board floor, which was unplaned and
full of slivers. The dirt sides and ceiling of the room were covered in canvas, which sagged in the
center. The canvas would also tremble when the rats and mice ran across the beams above. The
rodents were visible at one end of the room where the canvas cover ended prematurely. Mrs.
Baldwin stated that "the pack-rats would perch on the beams, rear up on their hind legs, with their
bushy tails hanging below, and survey me with their beady eyes. I was an unwonted (and probably
unwanted) sight to them, and I am sure they were to me. But finally we became used to each other,
although they raced and ran over my head, indifferent to my attempts to oust them with my broom."
Meals were taken by Mr. and Mrs. Baldwin in the drawing room, and a portion of the drawing room
was partitioned off by gray army blankets to form a bedroom. Mrs. Baldwin cut a small hole in the
blanket to form a peephole in order to insure her privacy (Baldwin 1928:123, 126). During her first
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Figure 2.10. Gardner photograph of dugout at workmen’s ranch, Ellsworth County, 1867. (Courtesy of

Kansas State Historical Society.)



meal in her new drawing room, Mrs. Baldwin noted that "[a] top of a box served as a table and a
newspaper for a tablecloth, and at the two plates were napkins made from the squares of flour sacks,
with the blue brands still on them” (Baldwin 1928:125).

Mrs. Baldwin also described the temporary log house occupied by Commanding Officer
Daingerfield Parker and his wife:

The exterior could in no way be distinguished from any of the others, but the interior
seemed like a sumptuous palace to me, with its curtains and draperies of turkey red
calico, bought at the post sutler’s store. There were buffalo robes to cover the rough
flooring and portable book shelves on the walls. Two low trestles on which were
placed boards, with a straw tick or mattress, was made to do duty as a couch, and was
both comfortable and beautiful, with its bright Indian blanket (Baldwin
128:126-127).

Another structure she described belonged to the post quartermaster, Lieutenant Wells
Willard, and his wife, who “occupied a log house consisting of one room, which was a drawing
room, kitchen, and bedroom combined. There was but one small window, but it was plenty large
enough to lighten the limited space within and if small, and lacking in the plainest and most
necessary furniture and conveniences, the warmth of welcome extended to the stranger within its
gates was unbounded and made up for all deficiencies” (Baldwin 1928:127).

It is uncertain, however, whether the log houses described above by Mrs. Baldwin were
located at the original post or at the new one. It is known that by November and December of 1866
the new post was occupied by two companies of infantry and one troop of cavalry (Baldwin
1928:126). However, in a February of 1867 quartermaster letter, it was noted that the stables,
quartermaster storehouse, and officers' quarters were still only partially completed at the new post.
The old quartermaster storehouse was described as “a mere Hovel covered with Canvas. The
Quarters at present occupied by officers at Post are small log buildings of one room each and I have
not made plans of those buildings as it is the intention of the Commanding Officer to have them torn
down as soon as the Quarters now in course of erection are completed" (NA 1794-1915:S. Brown
to M. Meigs, 11 February 1867).

Mrs. Baldwin mentioned other structures around the fort as well. They included a log
officers' mess, a commissary store, and a sutler's store (Baldwin 1928:124, 127, 129). One
description and a sketch exists of the sutler's store. The descriptionis as follows: "The front entrance
of the establishment was level with the roof. A flight of stairs led down to the main floor, where the
customer edged his way through exceedingly narrow rooms stacked head-high with groceries, cloth
and other necessities of pioneer life, such as bridles and bullwhips. Shoppers could leave through
a door in the rear which opened on the roof of a neighboring dugout” (Mitchell 1987:2). A sketch,
entitled "Sutler Store, Fort Harker," made by George Snyder in 1866, is the only drawing known to
exist of a structure at the original post (Figure 2.11). The sutler's store, which doubled as the post
office, was completed and moved to the new post location in December of 1866 (King 1996:6).
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Another structure that was built at the post was a quartermaster's storehouse. A 25 January
1867 report confirmed the presence of a quartermaster storehouse at the original post. "The
Quartermaster stores are now at the old post in a very insecure and insufficient building" (NA
1865-1869:A. Gibbs to H. Noyes, 25 January 1867).

A guardhouse was constructed at the original post, as evidenced by a letter documenting a
small fire taking place on 28 January 1867. The fire destroyed the "old Guard House at the old Post.
No public property was destroyed and the loss was rather a gain as it caught at a favorable time. Had
the wind been in the opposite direction the whole Quartermaster Dept. would have gone there being
only half a dozen buckets at the Post and the material mere timber" (NA 1865-1869:A. Gibbs to H.
Noyes, 29 January 1867). The guardhouse, however, was in use at that time. A second letter a few
days later ordered company commanders to issue replacement clothing to members of their
companies who were prisoners in the post guardhouse during the time of the fire. The old
guardhouse was being used due to the lack of stovepipes to heat the guard tent at the new post (NA
1865-1869:Post Orders No. 4, 30 January 1867; NA 1865-1869:A. Gibbs to L. Easton, 31 January
1867).

Another structure located at Fort Ellsworth was a bakehouse. In a letter dated 7 February
1867, Alfred Gibbs, commander of the post, writes to Col. M. R. Moran, Chief of Commissary
Subsistence of the Department of the Missouri, that the bake oven “is almost entirely unserviceable
and irreparable, it is a mile and a quarter from the new post and without possibility of removal, being
dug in a bank.” Gibbs claimed that the daily issue was about 250 loaves of bread, and that “the
bakery is called on almost daily to supply detachments, travelers, and trains.” Gibbs requested
bricks, iron doors, and iron door frames in order to build a new bake oven at the new post. Lack of
facilities and fuel of the proper quality hampered the post constructing their own oven. Gibbs needed
1,000 fire bricks, 10,000 common bricks, two iron doors measuring 2 by 2 1/2 ft., and two iron door
frames measuring 2 by 2 1/2 ft. Gibbs felt if the fire bricks were furnished from the quartermaster
depot at Fort Leavenworth, the common bricks could be obtained from Solomon City (NA
1865-1869:A. Gibbs to M. Morgan, 7 February 1867).

Combined together, the above accounts spanning 1864 to 1867 suggest that Fort Ellsworth
was primarily made up of an informal grouping of temporary structures that were not surrounded
by any type of stockade. One or two-room dugouts and log huts served as quarters for the soldiers
and officers. Other structures described in the accounts include a blockhouse, a makeshift shelter for
horses, a sod commissary storehouse, a quartermaster storehouse, an officers' mess, a sutler's store,
a guardhouse, and a bakehouse. Based on the descriptions, all of these structures appear to have been
made largely from materials on-hand, such as logs, sod, sand, and brush. No documentation exists
of any frame or stone buildings having been built at the post (Ziegler 1996:17-18).

By the spring of 1867 the quarters and other buildings at the new post were completed, and
the original post along the river was abandoned by the military. In June of 1867 the buildings were
ordered razed to the ground, although it appears that the sutler's store was still standing by November
of 1867. In the listing of the accounts of the post sutler in November 1867, the "Fort Ellsworth
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Building" was listed as being worth $250.00. Thus, it would seem the building had not been torn
down like the others by that time (Choitz 1967:7; Ellsworth County Historical Society [ECHS]
1867-1868:14 November 1867).

The post was not completely uninhabited, however, in 1867. After the decision was made
to move Fort Ellsworth, it seems that Joseph Lehman reoccupied his former landholdings. A letter
dated 17 May 1870 from J. Edwards of Elisworth to Senator Ross states that Arthur Larkin
purchased from Joseph Lehman the W of the SW of Section 36 and the E of the SE of Section 35,
T15S, R8W. Lehman s patent was dated 20 September 1866. When Larkin tried to take possession
of his land and establish a store, he was stopped by the post commandant until an investigation could
be made (NA 1866-1938:J. Edwards to Senator Ross, 17 May 1870).

In a letter to General Townsend of the War Department, dated 6 June 1870, Commissioner
Wilson of the Department of the Interior stated that the tract was patented to Joseph Lehman, a
preemptor whose first settlement was made in July 1860, on the 20th day of September 1866 being
some time previous to the executive reservation and six years after the inception of preemptorsttitle.
By Section 3 of the Act of 29 January 1861, providing for the admisson of Kansas into the Union,
there were granted to the State for the use of schools Sections 16 and 36 of every township of public
lands in the state not otherwise disposed of. Hence the reservation of Section 36, T15S, R8W, was
set aside for school purposes. However, this regulation was subject to preemption right where the
settlement of Lehman was prior to the survey of the school section. The commissioner thus
recommended that “some other section be reserved for the uses of Fort Harker, should the sixteen
sections already segregated be found insufficient” (NA 1866- 1938:Commissioner Wilson to General
Townsend, 6 June 1870). Prior to the sale of the Fort Harker Military Reservation in 1880, an
appraisal of the tracts within the reservation was completed. The two aforementioned sections of
land were still listed as being owned by Joseph Lehman, although from biographical sources, it is
known that Lehman moved out of Saline County by 1867 (Campbell 1928a; NA 1866-1938:List of
Tracts, [15 June 1880]; Vassar 1988:195-197).

Also prior to the sale of the reservation was an effort to remove the soldiers buried at the
original fort. In a letter dated 10 May 1880, it was noted that "there i1s entered on the Reservation (at
the site of the old Fort Ellsworth) the remains of some twelve or fifteen deceased soldiers. If it is the
desire of the Government to remove them to the National Cemeteries, I would respectfully inform
the Quartermaster that I would undertake their removal, furnishing boxes, etc; also making a record
of the names, companies, and regiments as far as the head boards will admit. The remains are all in
one spot of ground of about one fourth of an acre” (NA 1795-1915:1. Marks to Depot Quartermaster
at Fort Leavenworth, 10 May 1880). One documented funeral occurred at Fort Ellsworth on 10 April
1866. The funeral of Private James McBride of Company F, 2nd U.S. Cavalry took place at 3:00
p.m. Company F of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry was ordered to attend the funeral with side arms, and the
commanding officer of the company detailed one corporal and eight privates as a funeral escort (NA
1865-1869:Special Order No. 25, 10 April 1866). According to the post returns, approximately nine
soldiers died from disease during the existence of the post (NA 1965:Post Returns, October 1864
- January 1867).
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Military Units and Civilians at Fort Ellsworth

From 1864 to 1866 Fort Ellsworth was home to approximately 10 different commanding
officers and 17 companies of both infantry and cavalry regiments. For the most part it was occupied
by one or two companies at a time. However, occasionally there were up to six companies stationed
there at once. A review of the Fort Ellsworth Post Returns provides a good indicator of the
increasing growth and importance of Fort Ellsworth to the military over a period of about two years.

The earliest post return that exists dates to October of 1864, just five months after the post
was established by Lieutenant Ellsworth and 40 men of Company H, 7th Iowa Volunteer Cavalry.
The commanding officer in October was 1st Lieutenant Henry W. Garfield. Garfield arrived at the
post on 17 September 1864, and he remained the commanding officer through January of 1865.
Garfield was a member of Company H, 7th Iowa Volunteer Cavalry. From October to December of
1864, Garfield commanded an average of 55 men. In January of 1865, 48 men of Company L of the
2nd Colorado Cavalry were stationed at the post in addition to 60 men of the 7th Towa (NA
1965:Post Returns, October 1864 - January 1865).

Beginning on 7 February 1865, Captain Curtis Clark was the commanding officer of the
post. He was a member of the 7th Iowa as well. Clark served from February to September of 1865.
Under his command, there were primarily two companies of cavalry and infantry. In February of
1865 there were 65 men of Company L, 2nd Colorado Volunteer Cavalry, and 54 men of the 7th
Iowa Volunteer Cavalry. From March to August, there was an average of 49 men of the 7th Iowa,
and 68 men of Company C, 2nd U.S. Infantry. Company C was one of the regiments of "Galvanized
Yankees." Galvanized Yankees were confederate prisoners who earned their release from prison by
volunteering for Western duty. William Darnell, a teamster employed at Fort Riley, was
accompanied by members of this regiment while driving a train of 25 wagons from Fort Riley to
forts Ellsworth, Zarah, Larned, and Dodge. He noted that:

These Confederates . . .were a miserable looking, decrepit lot, run down physically,
and unable to make a long march.. . . On account of their poor physical condition,
orders had been given to limit the daily marches of these "galvanized soldiers" to
eight miles a day, the teams also being limited to an eight-mile haul instead of the
usual twenty-mile haul (Brown 1986:45-46).

Company C left Fort Ellsworth on 28 August 1865. It was replaced by two companies of the
13th Missouri Volunteer Cavalry. Companies A and F consisted of 62 and 61 men respectively (NA
1965:Post Returns, February - September 1865).

Following Captain Clark as post commander were two men that served a period of one
month each. Major Hiram Hilliard commanded the post in October of 1865. He was a member of
the 17th Illinois Cavalry. Companies A and B of the 17th Illinois numbered 143 men. Two other
companies were also stationed at Fort Ellsworth during the month. They were Companies A and F
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of the 13th Missouri Volunteer Cavalry, and they were comprised of 145 men. The next
commanding officer was 1st Lieutenant Charles H. Lester. Lester was a member of the 2nd U.S.
Cavalry, and he took command of the post on the 25 November. Only one company, Company I of
the 2nd U.S. Cavalry, was stationed at the post under his command, and they numbered 56 men (NA
1965:Post Returns, October - November 1865).

From 30 December 1865 to F ebruary of 1866, Brevet Lieutenant John Green was the
commanding officer. He was a captain of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry. During this period, he commanded
two companies of both infantry and cavalry. Both Company F of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry and Company
D, 2nd Battalion, 13th U.S. Infantry averaged 48 men each during the three months (NA 1965:Post
Returns, December 1865 - February 1866).

During the month of March 1866, the post was under the temporary command of Brevet
Major Kilburn Knox. Knox was a captain of the 13th U.S. Infantry. Knox held the post command
for only one month. Stationed at the post during this time were 40 men of Company F of the 2nd
U.S. Cavalry and 26 men of Company D, 2nd Battalion, 13th U.S. Infantry. Knox was relieved by
Brevet Lieutenant John Green during the month of April. Thirty-nine men of Company F of the 2nd
U.S. Cavalry were still stationed at the post, but Company D of the 13th U.S. Infantry left the post
on 28 April (NA 1965:Post Returns, March - April 1866).

Lieutenant Colonel 1. N. Palmer took up the reins of command after Brevet Lieutenant
Green. Palmer served at the post from May through August of 1866. Palmer was a member of the
2nd U.S. Cavalry. During this period, Fort Ellsworth served as the headquarters for the 2nd U.S.
Cavalry. One to two members of the general staff were present each month, and anywhere from 76
to 208 members of the Field Staff, Band, and Companies F and L of the 2nd U.S. Cavalry made their
homes at the post. Also stationed at the post during these four months were Companies F and H of
the 3rd U.S. Infantry. These two companies averaged a total of 118 men. The highest number of men

stationed at the post in a single month under Palmer was 333 men (NA 1965:Post Returns, May -
August 1866).

The next commanding officer of Fort Ellsworth was Captain John H. Page. Page was a
Brevet Major of the 3rd U.S. Infantry. He served at the post for only one month. The post still served
as headquarters for the 2nd U.S. Cavalry and carried a general staff of 2. However, the 2nd U.S.
Cavalry Field Staff, Band, and Companies F and L left the post in mid-September. One hundred
twenty-one member of Companies F and H, 3rd U.S. Infantry, remained at the post (NA 1965:Post
Returns, September 1866).

Captain Daingerfield Parker, a Brevet Major of the 3rd U.S. Infantry, relieved Captain Page
as commanding officer on 22 October 1866. He served the post through the month of December.
Under his leadership, the post was garrisoned with the following regiments: two to three members
of general staff; an average of 139 men of Companies F and G of the 7th U.S. Cavalry; an average
of 126 men of Companies F, H, and K of the 3rd U.S. Infantry; 20 men of Company E of the 19th
U.S. Infantry in November; and 48 men of Company E of the 37th U.S. Infantry in December. Under
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Captain Palmer, the post reached its highest number of garrisoned men under a commanding officer
in a single month. The total was 340 men in October of 1866 (NA 1965:Post Returns, October -
December 1866).

In January of 1867, as completion of the new post neared the end and preparations began to
be made to abandon the original post, Brevet Major General Alfred Gibbs commanded Fort Harker.
Gibbs was a major of the 7th U.S. Cavalry. He presided over a general staff of two men, 153 men
in Field Staff and Companies F and G of the 7th U.S. Cavalry, 107 men of Companies H and K of
the 3rd U.S. Infantry, and 46 men of Company E of the 37th U.S. Infantry. Gibbs held the position
of post commander through March of 1867 (NA 1965:Post Returns, January - March 1867).

Biographical information was available on four of the commanding officers of the post: John
Green, 1. N. Palmer, John H. Page, and Daingerfield Paker. John Green was born in Germany in
1825. His family moved to America by 1832, where they settled in Ohio. John was educated in the
public schools in Crawford County, Ohio, through 1842. Green joined the Army in 1846, where he
became a member of the Mounted Rifles. He was appointed captain of the 2nd Cavalry in 1861,
breveted major in 1863, and appointed lieutenant colonel in 1865. He retired for age in 1889 and was
appointed colonel in 1904 by an act of Congress. Green was also awarded a Congressional Medal
of Honor during his career. He died in 1908 (Marquis--Who's Who 1968:481).

Innis Newton Palmer was born in New York in 1824. He graduated from the United States
Military Academy in 1846. He served in the Mexican War, and some of his major engagements
included Cerro Gordo, Churubusco, Chapultepec, and the march on Mexico City. During the period
between the Mexican War and the Civil War, Palmer served in Oregon, Washington, Texas, and the
Indian Territory. He was a member of both the Mounted Rifles and the 2nd U.S. Cavalry. He was
promoted to major in 1861. Palmer served throughout the Civil War and participated in the defense
of Washington, the Army of the Potomac, and held various posts in North Carolina until July of
1865. After the war, he was promoted to brevet colonel and was given command of the 2nd U.S.
Cavalry, of which he had been a member since 1855. The remainder of his career was spent in the
west, where he commanded several forts, including Fort Ellsworth. He became a full colonel in
1868, and he retired in 1879. He died in Maryland in 1900 (Malone 1934:184-185).

John Henry Page was born in Delaware in 1842. His early education took place in Italy and
France, and he was a student at Northwestern University when the Civil War began. Page entered
service in 1861, and he became a private in the Chicago Light Artillery. Throughout the rest of the
war, he was a member of the 3rd U.S. Infantry. Page fought in many of the major engagements with
the Confederacy, including Fredericksburg, Gettysburg, Chancellorsville,and Appomattox.In 1863
he was appointed major "for gallant and meritorious services" in the battle of Gettysburg. After the
war he served in Kansas. Page would later establish Camp Supply in 1868. Page continued to serve
in the west up until the outbreak of the Spanish-American War in 1898. Page commanded in Cuba
and the Phillipines until 1902. He retired in 1903 and died in 1916 (Marquis Who's Who 1968:928).

45




Daingerfield Parker was born in New York in 1832. He was educated in various schools and
academies before joining the U.S. Army in 1861. He served as the subaltern and captain of the 3rd
U.S. Infantry from 1861 to 1884. During the Civil War he fought at 1st and 2nd Bull Run, Antietam,
Fredericksburg, and Chancellorsville. For his service at Gettysburg he was breveted. After the Civil
War he commanded a military prison in St. Louis, and troops at the opening of the Cheyenne strip.
He retired in 1896, was promoted to brigadier general in 1904 by an act of Congress, and died in
1925 (Marquis Who's Who 1968:934).

Also stationed at Fort Ellsworth during this period were military physicians. In December
of 1865 it was recorded that there was no medical officer or medicines of any kind at the post. As
the men were in much suffering due to diarrhea and other diseases, a request was issued for either
a medical officer or the authority to hire a citizen physician until a military one could be ordered to
the post (NA 1865-1869:F. De Courcy to J.E. Jacobs, 2 December 1865). According to post returns,
the first surgeon, George F. French, was appointed on 12 February 1866 (NA 1965:Post Return,
February 1866). Another surgeon that served at the post was George M. Sternberg. Sternberg was
appointed to Fort Ellsworth on 4 May 1866, and he served up through the move to the new post in
the spring of 1867 (NA 1965:Post Return, May 1866).

Many civilians lived and worked at Fort Ellsworth during the course of its existence. Within
the quartermaster department, civilians filled the positions of blacksmiths, teamsters, saddlers,
carpenters, masons, wagon masters, and guides. In the subsistence or commissary department, a
civilian clerk was employed. Other civilians worked as physicians and laundresses, and two final
groups of uncompensated civilians were post sutlers and officers’ wives.

The Fort Elisworth post returns from October of 1864 to December of 1866 document the
number and wages of civilians hired to complete quartermaster and subsistence duties. The number
of civilians hired in the subsistence department was tallied in the post returns. One clerk was
employed on a regular basis throughout the period from March to December of 1866. The clerk was
paid $100.00 a month. Beginning in January of 1866, the quartermaster department employed a
regular number of civilians each month. The number of blacksmiths employed was two, and they
were paid $75.00 a month or $3.00 a day. The number of teamsters employed varied by month, but
in general ranged from three to 34. The wage for teamsters was $35.00 a month. Only one saddler
was employed each month, and he made $75.00 a month. Carpenters and masons began to be
employed in July of 1866, most likely to build the new post. The number of carpenters ranged from
two in July to 11 in December, and they were paid $75.00 a month. Also employed was a master
carpenter, who was paid a slightly higher wage of $80.00 a month. The number of masons ranged
from seven to 15, and they were paid the same as carpenters. A master mason was also employed
at the rate of $80.00 a month. The number of wagon masters varied each month, but by late 1866 a
regular number of two civilians were being employed for this job. Wagon masters were paid $75.00
a month. The final type of position the post quartermaster offered was that of a guide. For the most
part, only one guide was on the payroll each month at a wage of $80.00. However, in some months,
more guides were hired for specific time frames. In July of 1866, two guides were employed, one
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of them for the dates 10 July to 19 July. Both guides were being paid $100.00 a month (NA
1965:Post Returns, October 1864 - December 1866).

Men employed as guides or scouts were usually trappers, hunters, trail drivers, or anyone else
familiar with the country and the ways of Indians. The mission of scouts was to follow a trail, guide
a command, or carry messages from one command to another.

Scouts, guides, and several other kinds of civilian employees such as teamsters and
packers were hired by the Quartermaster Department of the army, usually through a
post or regimental quartermaster. Scouts were hired by the month and were under no
obligation to stay beyond that period, nor were they guaranteed continuous
employment. Their pay ranged from $60 a month to $150, or even more for
especially hazardous missions. A regiment or an expedition might be authorized to
employ a number of scouts, in which case one of the most reliable of them was
designated chief of scouts and was paid accordingly. In large organizations an officer
was also designated chief of scouts; equivalent to the reconnaissance officer or G-2,
intelligence officer of the present day (Russell 1960:80).

Two of the most famous guides employed by the quartermaster department at Fort Ellsworth
were Wild Bill Hickok and Buffalo Bill Cody (Figures 2.12 and 2.13). In his autobiography, Cody
related the story of how he came to be employed as a scout at Fort Ellsworth.

Believing that I could make more money out West on the frontier than I could at Salt Creek
Valley, I sold out the Golden Rule House [hotel] and started alone for Saline [Salina],
Kansas, which was then the end of the track of the Kansas Pacific railway, which was at that
time being built across the plains. On my way I stopped at Junction City, where I again met
my old friend Wild Bill, who was scouting for the government, his headquarters being at Fort
Ellsworth, afterwards called Fort Harker. He told me that they needed more scouts at this
post, and I accordingly accompanied him to that fort, where I had no difficulty in obtaining
employment. During the winter of 1866-67, I scouted between Fort Ellsworth and Fort
Fletcher (Cody 1991:145).

A man by the name Henry Northrop claims that Cody and himself resided that winter in a
dugout located along Mulberry Creek in Saline County, which suggests that some of the employed
civilians may not have resided at the fort. In early 1867 Cody was helping haul goods for a store
established in Ellsworth by his friend Arthur Larkin, and by the spring of 1867 Cody was at Fort
Fletcher (Russell 1960:78).

Civilian physicians and laundresses were also employed at Fort Ellsworth to assist the
military physician. On 10 February 1865 James Telfer reported to the post for duty. He worked at
the post for only a few weeks before being transferred to Fort Larned (NA 1965:Post Returns,
February - March 1865). A man by the name of Whipple was employed as the acting assistant
surgeon on 12 March 1865. He remained at the post until 21 July 1865. The next citizen physician
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State Historical Society.)
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listed in the post returns was a J. N. Sabine. Thomas B. Chase was the last citizen physician
employed at Fort Ellsworth before the move to the new post. Sabine and Chase were both officially
noted as acting assistant surgeons (NA 1965:Post Returns, February 1865 - December 1866).
Associated with the hospital was another civilian position. On 9 May 1866 Mrs. Margaret Moore
was appointed hospital matron at Fort Ellsworth. She was under the direction of the post surgeon on
duty (NA 1865-1869:Special Order No. 45, 9 May 1866).

Laundresses were a necessary fixture at frontier posts. A post council of administration held
at Fort Ellsworth on 28 February 1866 documented the presence of female laundresses at the fort.
The council recorded that “The rate of compensation to Laundresfes [sic] employed at the post, or
with the companies composing the garrison to be established as follows, viz --- washing for Officers
of the post, to be four (4) Dollars per Month, and for enlisted men seventy five (75) cents per month
where nothing but government clothing is washed, any other clothing of enlisted men included, to
be one (1) dollar per month” (NA 1865-1869:Council of Administration, 28 February 1866).
Another post council of administration held on 30 June 1866 updated the wages to 75 cents per
dozen for officers and officers' families, and 75 cents a month for enlisted men's government
clothing. One laundress was mentioned by name in Special Order No. 17 dated 8 March 1866. The
order specified that "Mrs. O’Connell, a Laundress of Company “F” 2nd U.S. Cavalry, will be
allowed to retain the Quarters she now occupies until otherwise ordered by the permanent
Commander of this post” (NA 1865-1 869:Special Order No. 17, 8 March 1866).

The position of laundress solidified when in 1802 Congress authorized four per company.
This allowed them to be carried on company rosters and be eligible for quarters and rations. Post
laundresses were often the wives of noncommissioned officers, and they typically lived in shanties
or log houses some distance from the main part of the post (Knight 1978:6-7, 67). "One of the
unwritten laws of the rank and file in the good old days [was] to square with the laundress if you
didn't square with anybody else” (Quoted in Knight 1978:68). Regulations stipulated that enlisted
men were to pay the laundresses at the pay table, even though the men were to be paid quarterly. The
position of laundress was phased out by Congress between 1878 and 1883. This meant that they

were no longer eligible for quarters and rations and were no longer placed on company rolls (Knight
1978:68-69).

Two other sets of civilians that could be found at frontier army posts were post sutlers and
wives. On 16 December 1865 Ephraim Warner was approved and recommended for the position of
post sutler by a council of administration held at Fort Ellsworth. He replaced a Mr. Miller as sutler
(NA 1865-1869:F. de Courcy to J. Jacobs, 3 December 1865; NA 1865-1869:Council of
Administration, 16 December 1865). Warner was approved a second time on 30 June 1866, as a
result of the post being established officially as a permanent post on 20 February 1866. It was also
noted at that time that Mr. Wamer was from Riley County (NA 1865-1869:Council of
Administration, 30 June 1866). Warner also served as the postmaster at Fort Ellsworth (NA
1865-1867:F. de Courcy to Postmaster General, 17 December 1865).
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The officers' wives at Fort Ellsworth, although few in number, were an integral part of the
life at the post. Alice Blackwood Baldwin mentioned several of the officers’ wives and their
activities in her journal. The Baldwins ate their first dinner at the officers' mess, where she met Mrs.
Kelly, who was the wife of the commissary sergeant. Interestingly, Mrs. Kelly was the one who
prepared the meal that night (Baldwin 1928:124). Other officers' wives who were living at Fort
Ellsworth included Mrs. Daingerfield Parker, the wife of the commanding officer; Mrs. Thomas
Chase, the wife of the post surgeon; and Mrs. Wells Willard, the wife of the post quartermaster. The
women bonded together to set up a ball for Mr. and Mrs. Baldwin during the winter of 1866-1867.
Mrs. Baldwin described the great lengths the women took to give the post a festive air:

The ball was unique and original, considering much that was necessary to beautify
and adorn, but there was not a shop or store within hundreds of miles (save the
sutler's store) that was available; so the four ladies of the fort conferred together, and
combining tastes, brains and ideas, succeeded in making a "bower of beauty" out of
a half-completed stone building . . .The ladies wore their best "bib and tucker” and
borrowed of each other and exchanged what one possessed and the other did not “a
kindly spirit and mutual interest with us all" (Baldwin 1928:127-128).

The ball encompassed a night of dancing to the music of the company musicians and several
civilian employees. Violins, guitars, an accordian, and a fife played such tunes as the "Virginia
Reel." Supper was served by Mrs. Kelly, who worked and supervised the dinner (Baldwin
1928:128).

The officers' wives at frontier posts often formed close friendships. Mrs. Baldwin became
close friends with the wife of Post Surgeon Thomas Chase. Mrs. Baldwin remarked that Mrs. Chase
was "a very pretty and agreeable woman, and a warm friendship formed with that spontaneity which
is often the characteristic of women’s intimacies, not always lasting, I regret to state. But in our case,
affection and love remained until severed by death.” Tragically, Mrs. Chase was a victim of a
cholera plague that attacked the post in 1867 (Baldwin 1928:126).

Military Duties at Fort Ellsworth

Military duties at Fort Ellsworth revolved around the daily calls of the post. General Order
No. 2, dated 2 December 1865, issued the following daily calls (Table 2.1).
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Table 2.1. Daily Calls at Fort Ellsworth.

TIME CALL
6:00 AM. Reveille sounded by Cavalry and repeated by Infantry Musicians
Stable call immediately after
7:30 AM.  Breakfast call to be beaten by Infantry Musician
8:00 AM.  Sick call to be beaten by Infantry Musician
8:15 AM. Fatigue call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
9:00 AM.  Guard Mounting to be beaten by Infantry Musician
9:30 AM.  Water Call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
10:00 AM. st Drill Call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
11:30 AM. Recall from Drill to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
12:00 PM. Orderly Call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
12:30 P.M.  Recall from Fatigue to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
1:00 P.M.  Dinner call to be beaten by Infantry Musician
1:30 P.M.  Fatigue call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
2:00 P.M.  2d Dirill call to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
3:00 P.M. Recall from drill to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
3:15P.M. Stables to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
4:00 P.M. Recall from Fatigue to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
SUNSET  Retreat to be beaten by Infantry Musician
8:30 P.M.  Tattoo to be beaten by Infantry Musician
8:45P.M. Taps to be sounded by Cavalry Buglers
10:00 A.M.  Sunday Morning Inspection
Guard Mounting immediately after

This schedule was altered as the seasons and situations changed at the fort. While the above
schedule served the post well for the winter months, it was changed the following spring to take
advantage of the increased number of daylight hours and warmer weather. On 1 March 1866 the
following changes were made to the schedule: breakfast call was moved up to 7:00 a.m.; sick call
was at 7:30 a.m.; fatigue call at 7:45 a.m.; guard mounting at 8:00 a.m.; second drill call at 3:00

p-m.; recall from drill at 4:00 p.m.; stables at 4:30 p-m.; recall from fatigue at 5:00 p.m.; and Sunday

morning inspection at 9:00 a.m. (NA 1865-1869:General Order No. 4, 1 March 1866).

An enlisted man's day began with reveille and the sound of the cavalry and infantry
musicians marching around the post. If the post was without a band, a trumpet or bugle was called
upon to start the day. Stable call was the next call to be sounded. Men proceeded to the stables with
curry combs in hand to feed and care for their horses, the most important animal at any frontier post.
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After breakfast and sick call, fatigue call and guard mounting took place. For fatigue duties, soldiers
would consult a posted schedule for drills. Drills took place at Fort Ellsworth before and after dinner.
However, frontier soldiers often spent the majority of their time performing manual labor during
fatigue. Guard mounting consisted of the formal changing of the the post guard and the officer of
the day. In full uniform, the new guard and officer would march on to the parade, and the former
guard and officer would march off. The old and new officers would then proceed to the guardhouse,
where the old officer would turn over the daily roster to the other. Accompanying them were the old
and new guards, where the new guard would be updated on the situation of the post before taking
his station at the guardhouse. The evening stable call was followed by retreat. Army regulations
required one dress parade a day. It was a highlight of the day for the men and women of the post
(Knight 1978:163-171). Alice Blackwood Baldwin, who lived at Fort Ellsworth during the winter
of 1866-1867, remarked, "never will I forget the scene, with the four musicians with fife and drum,
or the effect that the strains of "Fra Diavolo" played by Bruno, the fifer, had upon me" (Baldwin
1928:125). After retreat the men were free for the evening. Tattoo marked the time for the men to
proceed to their quarters. Finally, taps signaled the end of the day. Full-dress inspection was
performed every Sunday morning per Army regulations. For the frontier soldiers, it served as a
symbol of the passage of time (Knight 1978:163-171).

For commissioned officers the day was filled with a myriad of paperwork and meetings.
Each morning was started with a meeting of all the officers present at the fort for conferences and
instructions. In addition to the daily post duties, officers presided at garrison court-martials, boards
of survey, and post councils of administration (Knight 1978:163-171). At Fort Ellsworth there were
usually three officers present--the commanding officer, a company officer, and an officer that
sometimes served as the post quartermaster, commissary sergeant, and post adjutant (NA 1965: Post
Returns, October 1864 - January 1867). According to surviving letters, it appears that commanding
officers wanted a minimum of three officers present in order to fill the positions of commanding
officer, post adjutant, post quartermaster, and commissary sergeant. If no other officers were present,
the commanding officer was forced to take on the workload of the post quartermaster and
commissary sergeant as well (NA 1865-1869:K. Knox to R. Torrey, 6 April 1866). In reply to an
order requesting an officer to be transferred to Fort Larned, Commanding Officer John H. Page
pleaded for the officer to be retained until another could be sent to the post as they were the only two
present at that time (NA 1865-1869:J. Page to Major [?], 1 October 1866).

The primary mission of the enlisted men at Fort Ellsworth was to protect settlers, wagon
trains, mail stations, and stage coaches on the Fort Riley/Fort Larned Road and the Smoky Hill Trail.
To accomplish this mission, soldiers were detached from the post as escorts and as guards at mail
or stage stations along the roads. Escort duty was one of the most important duties at the post.
Beginning in June 1864, escort procedures were established by Major T. I. McKenney: "The
arrangements I have made in regard to escorting the mails are as follows: The officer at Saline, who
has 20 men, will escort to Smoky Hill Fork, and wait for return mail. The officer at Smoky Hill Fork,
who has 40 men, will escort to Walnut Creek, and wait for return mail" (U.S. War Department 1893,
34(4):402-404). If an escort was unavailable, the stages often waited at the post until men could be
furnished. On 21 October 1864 Commanding Officer Henry Garfield wrote to the commanding
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officer at Fort Zarah to explain the reason why the stage did not go through the prior week. It started
from here without an Escort. It went about 10 miles and they claimed they saw Indians and they

turned and came back. It will be here Sunday 1 suppose. I shall be unable to furnish any Escort for
this reason. I have only 12 Horses in my Command and we do the Escorting East. The Stage will

remain here until an Escort comes from the west for I cannot furnish any. I have taken the liberty to

inform you of this fact so that you may know how I am situated in regard to Escorting the Stage (NA
1864-1865:H. Garfield to C.O., Ft. Zarah, 21 October 1864).

Over the years of Fort Ellsworth's existence, many detachments of escorts were sent with
various types of wagon trains. Some of the trains were filled with government supplies for other forts
along the Smoky Hill and Santa Fe trails (Figure 2.1). A sergeant and six enlisted men of Company
F,2nd U.S. Cavalry were detailed to escort a government train to Fort Fletcher. After the stores were
delivered, they were ordered to accompany the train back to the post. For the trip they were issued
eight day s rations and 25 rounds of ammunition (NA 1865-1869:Special Order No. 3, 28 January
1866). Another example is provided in an order dated 27 September of 1866. Companies F and H
of the 3rd U.S. Infantry were ordered to escort the train of army contractors Streeter and Strickler
to Fort Wallace (NA 1865-1869:Special Orders No. 150, 27 September 1866). Escorts were also
provided to government personnel, such as Major Baird, Pay Master. He was to be escorted to Fort
Zarah on 6 April 1866 (NA 1865-1869:K. Knox to R. Torrey, 6 April 1866).

Fort Ellsworth also provided escorts for the mail and stage coach companies that traveled the
road. Two stage lines served Fort Ellsworth from 1864 to 1866. The first was the Kansas Stage
Company. This company had been traveling the road prior to the building of the fort, and had
established a station at Joseph Lehman and Daniel H. Page's ranch (Campbell 1928a). The Kansas

Stage Company provided a weekly line that ran between Junction City and Fort Larned on the Fort
Riley/Fort Larned Road (Ziegler 1996:6).

Fort Ellsworth was also a "home" or "eating station" for the Butterfield Overland Despatch,
a stage line that offered triweekly passenger and express service between Atchison, Kansas, and
Denver, Colorado, on the Smoky Hill Trail (Choitz 1967:10; Lee and Raynesford 1980; Lees and
Shockley 1986:24). David A. Butterfield was the owner of the Butterfield Overland Despatch, also
known as the Denver Express. He established the line in order to provide fast service to the new,
flourishing town of Denver in Colorado. Before the starting of the service in 1865, survey work
needed to be done along the road in order to establish stage stations. Lieutenant Julian R. Fitch, U.S.
Signal Corps, was designated as the surveyor for this party, and his account of the trip which began
on 13 June 1865 survives. With regard to Fort Ellsworth he stated: -

At a distance of Thirty two miles we reached Fort Ellsworth on the western terminus
of the great bend of Smoky Hill. Here we were Joined by Two Companies of the 13th
Missouri Cavalry under command of Capts McMichael and Snell. After resting a day
and killing a few buffalo which we now found in considerable numbers and
diverging from the old road we bore a little north of west upon the north side of the
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Smoky Hill river near our old trail of 1860 which had at this time become entirely
obliterated (Fitch 1865).

The Smoky Hill route, which was shorter than the Platte River route that was used by other
freighters, was 592 miles in length. Butterfield began running stages along the route after several
stations were established and stocked with grain, forage, and fresh horses. Robert Muir, a citizen of
the neighboring town of Salina, wrote to his brother on 10 September 1865 that "Perhaps you can
form some idea of the intent the Company [Butterfield Overland Despatch] and the business they
expect to do when I tell you that from Abilene 25 miles east of here till fort Ellsworth 35 miles west
of here they are having 1100 tons of hay put up exclusiley [sic] for there [sic] own use.” On 11
September the first stage left Atchison. It arrived in Denver after only twelve days (Blackmar
1912:266-267; Lee and Raynesford 1980; Muir 1865).

Fort Ellsworth was Station No. 6 on the Butterfield line. The Red Concord coaches that
would pull up to the post held up to nine people and were pulled by a set of four horses (Figure
2.14). Drivers were changed every 40 miles, and stock stations were located every 12 to 15 miles.
Problems often arose on such stage coach lines due to the absence of regulations governing the
conduct of the stage driver (Choitz 1967:10; Lee and Raynesford 1980). Circular No. 1, issued at
neighboring Fort Zarah, pinpointed the difficulties faced by soldiers charged with escorting stages
and issued regulations to alleviate these problems:

Frequent complaints having been made to these Hd. Qrs. against the drivers of the
Mail Coaches in this District for their drunkeness and reckless exposure of the lives
and property of the passengers_confided to their charge. As the Commanding Officer
of this District is held to a strict accountability for the safe passage through the limits
of his Command of all travelers, so also will he hold the Commanders of the various
Posts for the safety of the Mail Coaches and all trains that are under Escort from their
Posts. Hereafter the Escorts will not travel at a faster rate than (5) five miles per hour.
The Escort will be kept well closed up and no straggling allowed. The Officer in
Command will be held to a strict accountability for the safe delivery of the Coach or
train at the next Post and also for the condition of the horses of his Escort. The Coach
must keep with the Escort and travel as it travels and Officers in Charge of Escorts,
being also in charge of Coach - should the driver fail to obey their instructions, they
will arrest them and detail a man to drive the coach to the next station and these Head
Quarters be notified immediately (NA 1864-1865:Circular No. 1, 15 March 1865).
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The Butterfield Overland Despatch Company operated for less than 18 months. Reasons for
its failure included the declining mining interest in Colorado and the frequent Indian hostilities at
the stations west of Fort Ellsworth along the Smoky Hill Trail. Hostilities ranged from the stealing
of horses to the burning of stations and killing of drivers. Several detachments from Fort Ellsworth
were garrisoned at the stations to the west from 1865 to 1866. The line was sold to Ben Holladay
in 1866. Holladay was the owner of the Overland Express Company, and the merged the two
businesses to form the Holladay Overland Mail and Express Company. Holladay later sold the line
to Wells Fargo in late 1866, who continued the service until the Union Pacific Railroad was
completed in 1867 (Blackmar 1912:267; Choitz 1967:10; Lee and Raynesford 1980).

Another duty that the enlisted men at Fort Ellsworth were frequently charged with was
guarding mail or stage stations along the roads. On 23 October 1866 a letter was written to Holladay
outlining the measures that would be taken by the military to insure the safety of the coaches and
mail route. The military would provide two to three horses, forage, two months worth of subsistence
supplies, and ammunition at each mail station. In addition, three companies of infantry and two
troops of cavalry would be stationed at Fort Ellsworth; and two infantry companies and one troop
of cavalry would be stationed at Camp Fletcher, Fort Wallace, and Fort Morgan (Frederick
1940:228). A week later General Orders No. 6 from the District of Upper Arkansas was issued to
Fort Ellsworth. This order detailed one sergeant and 20 privates of Company H, 3rd U.S. Infantry,
and a corporal and four privates of Company G, 7th U.S. Cavalry, to proceed to the Lost Creek mail
station. Another group consisting of one sergeant and 20 privates of Company E, 19th U.S. Infantry,
was to proceed to the Fossil Creek mail station. Each detachment was to be supplied with a wagon,
a month s supply of subsistence stores, a month s forage for the cavalry horses and mule team, and
an ample supply of ammunition, tents, axes, spades, shovels, nails, and other carpentry tools. For
shelter, the men were to build a stockade or redoubt as close as possible to water and trees. Their
mission was to control and protect their designated road. The men were ordered not to interfere with
employees and coaches of the mail companies and to not interact with any Indians that may be in
the area. The detachments were to be relieved monthly, and reports were to be made to Fort
Ellsworth as often as the mail passed. If there were not enough men enough available for duty in
those companies, men on extra or daily duty were to be relieved to make the number specified (NA
1865-1869:Special Orders No. 177, 12 November 1866).

Many of the enlisted men at Fort Ellsworth were detailed on extra or daily duty. Post Orders
No. 6 provides a list of the different types of positions and the number assigned to each on daily
duty.

In order to properly arrange the details for guard, detached service, etc., the following

non-commissioned officers and privates, and none others, may be reported as on

daily duty: viz: - men detailed as Bakers; Hospital Attendants, including the Acting

Hospital Steward; Tailors, actually employed in altering clothing; Herders, not

exceeding three (3) from each Company of Cavalry; Company Cooks, not exceeding

one to every thirty men; men on extra and daily duty in the Quartermaster and

Commissary Departments. The Stable Police, not to exceed three (3) men from each
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Company of Cavalry, while not reported on daily duty, will not be considered in the
strength of Companies for duty, in making details for guards, etc. While building of
quarters is progressing, each of the companies, except those men enumerated above,
will be considered as a fatigue party, and will labor under the direction of the

Commanding Officer of the Company (NA 1865-1869:Post Order No. 6, 23 June
1866).

Other types of positions included a company clerk, a butcher, strikers, farriers, and
blacksmiths (NA 1865-1869:Special Order No. 69, 19 June 1866; NA 1865-1869:Post Order No.
6, 23 June 1866). Strikers were men detailed in officers’ quarters to supply wood, maintain the
structure, and assist at social gatherings. Alice Blackwood Baldwin mentioned strikers in her journal.
Their striker's name was Joe Bowers, and on her first day at the post Joe "cleaned house . . .The rusty
stove was blacked, the floor swept and order generally restored” (Baldwin 1928:122, 126-128).

Some men on daily duty enjoyed a slightly higher status and an increase in wages. Bakers
were paid an additional $8.00 per month, and the head baker was paid $8.50 (NA 1865-1869:Council
of Administration 30 June 1866; NA 1865-1869:Council of Administration, 2 January 1867). Mrs.
Baldwin mentioned that strikers were paid more and were able to eat their meals in "warm and
comfortable surroundings." Due to these privileges, she states that men willing to do the work were
easy to come by (Baldwin 1928:127-129)

During the building of the fort in the latter half of 1866, there was a large number of
detachments being ordered out on escorting and guarding missions. In the surviving orders and
letters for the post, a sense of reluctance can be heard in the commanding officer's voice as he
relieves men detailed in the building of the new fort to go on these missions. An order to furnish 10
men and one noncommissioned officer to escort hay contractors to Fort Fletcher was made in
October of 1866. In order to comply with the order, the commanding officer at Fort Ellsworth was
forced to relieve men working in the quarries (NA 1865-1869:J. Page to W. Harrison, 10 October
1866). As winter deepened that year, the escort missions became fewer. As a result, more men were
detailed to manual labor in order to complete the post. Commanding Officer Alfred Gibbs wrote on
25 January 1867 that "All hands being employed in building stables, there is but little military duty
besides Guard Mounting and Sunday Inspection. The Cavalry are particularly deficient many of
them never having been taught even to mount; all are ignorant of the manual of arms, the cavalry
never have drawn their sabres from the boxes. They would make a sorry figure in a conflict with
Indians” (NA 1865-1869:A. Gibbs to H. Noyes, 25 January 1867).

One of the chief reasons for the high number of desertions at frontier military posts was the
large amount of time spent doing manual labor (Knight 1978:163-171). At Fort Ellsworth, a total
of 72 men were reported for desertion from October of 1864 to J anuary 1867. The largest number
in one month to desert was 14. That occurred in November of 1865, and they were members of
Company I, 2nd U.S. Cavalry (NA 1965:Post Returns, October 1864 - January 1867).
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After the calling of retreat, the men were free for the evening. Liesure time was spent in
several different ways. John Morrill, a soldier who passed through Fort Ellsworth, noted in a 23
September 1865 letter to his wife and children some of the social activities that went on at the post
while he was there.

we have just began to get into the buffalo country. have seen skulls & skeletons of
them for two days but I have seen no live one to be near them. the Cols allows the
boys to go hunting chicking [sic] & Buffalo as much as they please when in camp,
or on the [sic] he will go with & frequently shoots at a stray chick while at the hed
of the line or halts the Regt for some one else to shoot. the boys are out arround [sic]
camp shooting all the time. Yesterday was the first day we have camped where there
was any Buffalo & the Boys went out & killed 6. horsemen would ride up beside
them & Shoot them with carbines or revolvers, the footman did not have much
success but saw numerous Buffalo, Antelope & wolves.. . . Well we have been laying
arround camp all the afternoon have cooked & eaten our supper. Sam has gone to get
some water & [ am agoing to get some grass to make our bed. We did not march but
5 miles to day have to march to where we can find wood & water.. . . there is no
camp gard. the men go & come when they please since we left Riley I had a piece of
Buffalo which I broiled on a stick. it is sweet have some to cook for supper. it is
sweet looks like beef but is reder [sic] (Morrill 1865).

The large number of native buffalo that occupied the ranges of the Smoky River was also
commented on by Julian Fitch, surveyor for the Butterfield Overland Despatch in the summer of
1865. He commented that

Five miles west of Fort Ellsworth we were fairly in the Buffalo Range for miles in every
direction as far as the eye could see the hills were black with those Shaggy monsters of the
Prairie grazing quietly upon the finest pasture in the world. Should I estimate the number of
Buffalo to be seen at one view at a million it would be thought an exaggeration but better
authority than myself has estimated them at millions or as being greater in number than all
the domestic cattle in America. Truly it has been said that the Smoky Hill is the garden spot
and hunting ground of America (Fitch 1865).

Other liesurely pursuits included attending whatever social events that had been planned at
the post or playing cards at the sutler's store. Some men also took the opportunity to indulge their
tastes in liquor (Knight 1978:163-171). General Order No. 1, dated 11 January 1866, provides a
glimpse into the liquor situation at the fort. The order by Brevet Major Green documented trouble
occurring at the fort with regard to the sutler being able to sell liquor to citizens and train masters
passing over the road. Green called attention to War Article No. 29, which stated that no sutler was
permitted to sell any kind of liquor or victuals, or keep their stores or houses open past 9:00 p.m. or
before reveille or on Sundays during church for the entertainment of soldiers. Green further
prohibited the sutler from selling intoxicating liquor to any citizen or soldier connected with the
army except upon an order approved by the Post Commander. Commissioned officers were excepted
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in this order only when they presented themselves in person at the sutler s store. Their orders for
liquor also had to be countersigned by the Commanding Officer of the post before being filled by
the sutler (NA 1865-1869:General Order No. 1, 11 January 1866).

The military's authority in preventing the consumption of liquor, however, did not as easily
extend to places outside of the post. In a letter written to Kansas Governor Crawford on 3 September
1866, Commanding Officer John H. Page complained about the "Whiskey Ranches" located between
Salina and Fort Ellsworth. Page stated, "My soldiers are continually drunk, these Ranchmen selling
and giving them liquor on credit. As I interpret the Law this is Indian Country and it is my duty to
destroy all spirituous liquor brought into it." Page requested information on whether it was illegal
for ranchmen to sell liquor without a license beyond Salina. As further justification for his concern,
Page noted that it was through the ranchmen that the Indians were receiving liquor and the teamsters
of passing trains were becoming intoxicated. Page concluded by stating that "The evil is increasing
every day"(NA 1865-1869:J. Page to Governor Crawford, 3 September 1866).

Measures had actually been taken on 25 August 1866 to halt a neighboring settler from
selling liquor to enlisted men and government employees. The settler was located five miles to the
east of Fort Ellsworth, and an armed detail of two men and one noncommissioned officer was
assigned to guard his establishment. At the same time, the post sutler was ordered to not sell more
than two glasses of liquor a day to enlisted men or government employees at the post (NA
1865-1869:Special Order No. 124, 25 August 1866).

Soldiers who were under the influence of alcohol often got into trouble. The case of Hospital
Steward John Lumb shows the lengths some soldiers went to indulge their taste. Lumb was arrested
and confined for stealing liquor from the hospital. On 15 August 1866 the commanding officer wrote
that "[Lumb] is one of those obstinate, insubordinate characters who are a nuisance to the service,
and when he is drunk on Hospital liquor, he becomes so bad that it is necessary to place him in close
confinement. He is now confined to his tent, for, while in arrest, d[rag]ging the Acting Hospital
Steward away from the Hospital, and then robbing it of a quantity of Hospital Brandy” (NA
1865-1869:1. Palmer to L. Thomas, 15 August 1866).

Those soldiers that were arrested for such offenses were tried at garrison courts- martial. One
such court-martial arraigned and tried two soldiers. The first, Corporal Francis Henebry of the 13th
Infantry, was charged with “Drunkenness [sic] on duty” and “Conduct to the prejudice of good order
and military discipline.” The incident occurred while escorting the U.S. Paymaster to Fort Riley,
Kansas. Henebry pleaded quilty to the first charge and not guilty to the second. Henebry was
sentenced to be “reduced to the ranks, to be confined at hard labor in charge of the guard for one
month, wearing a ball and chain weighing twenty (20) pounds attached to his right leg, and to forfeit
to the United States sixteen (16) dollars of his monthly pay for one month.” The second soldier,
Private Burk of the 13th U.S. Infantry, was charged with “Drunkenness [sic] on duty.” The incident
occurred while on duty with a party sent from the post to pursue deserters. At the town of Salina, the
soldier became “so much under the influence of intoxicating liquour as to be unable to perform any
duty whatever.” The soldier pleaded not guilty, but was found guilty and charged to be confined at
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hard labor in charge of the guard for one month, with a ball and chain weighing 20 pounds attached
to his right leg, and to pay the United States eight dollars out of his monthly pay. However, the
proceedings of the court following the sentencing took into considerationthe soldiers’ character and
recommendations of members of the court, and remitted the wearing of a ball and chain for both
soldiers (NA 1865-1869:General Orders No. 4, 1 March 1866).

Encounters with Native Americans

As presented earlier, Fort Ellsworth was established in June of 1864 in reaction to raiding
bands of Cheyenne and Sioux in the vincinity of the Smoky Hill Crossing. Thus the purpose of Fort
Ellsworth was to protect the settlers, wagon trains, and mail and stage stations along the Fort
Riley/Fort Larned Road and Smoky Hill Trail from these hostile forces. From 1864 to 1866, the
troops stationed at Fort Ellsworth encountered Indians numerous times in the course of their duties.

It was not very long after the establishment of Fort Ellsworth that the soldiers garrisoned
there came into contact with Indians. On 7 August 1864 a raiding party struck Fort Ellsworth. Forty
to fifty horses belonging to the 7th lowa Volunteer Cavalry and five mules belonging to the Kansas
Stage Company were stolen. Although Captain Booth and 20 men of the 7th lowa pursued the
Indians for 40 miles up the Saline River, they were unable to catch them (U.S. War Department
1893, 41[1]:233). Soon after that event, a detachment under Lieutenant Ellsworth joined with the
11th Kansas Cavalry from Fort Larned to trail a band of Indians in the area. However, no
engagements took place due to the Indians numbering around 600 and the cavalry totaling 92 (Mattes
1947:1).

A fatal encounter with the Indians occurred on 16 August 1864. In a diary entry dated 17
August 1864 the Reverend A. A. Morrison noted that "News has come that four soldiers have been
killed between here and the Smoky Hill Crossing west of us" (Salina Public Library [SPL] -
1863-1917). He was referring to the engagement that occurred the day before when six men of
Company H, 7th Iowa Volunteer Cavalry, left Salina en route to Fort Ellsworth. They were attacked
by 100 to 300 Indians at Elm Creek. It was reported that the soldiers had used up all of their allotted
ammunition hunting buffalo, so they were defenseless against the surprise attack. They were quickly
overtaken and scalped before reaching Fort Ellsworth (Shoaf 1938:6; U.S. War Department 1893,
41(1):264). The Indians that murdered the soldiers may have been part of the group mentioned in
a 15 August 1864 letter to Lieutenant Ellsw